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          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I am Eva

          3  Moskowitz, Chair of the Education Committee. I am

          4  going to bring this meeting to order. I am joined by

          5  Council Member John Liu, a member of this Committee,

          6  and Council Member Lew Fidler, an honorary member of

          7  this Committee and the author of Intro. 493, which

          8  is part of our hearing today.

          9                 First of all, I want to begin by

         10  thanking the Department of Education, in particular

         11  Deputy Chancellor Carmen Farina, for the informative

         12  answers to our questions. I want to note, not only

         13  in this instance, but for the last, at least three

         14  or four months we've not only gotten very, very

         15  helpful answers to our questions, we've gotten them

         16  in a relatively timely fashion, and we've had

         17  follow-up questions and we're now starting to get

         18  those, and we very much appreciate. I know that this

         19  is a lot of work to put these things together, I

         20  think it's enormously helpful for public debate, and

         21  I wanted to personally and publicly thank you and

         22  the Chancellor for all of the work that your staff

         23  has done in putting together the answers.

         24                 For members of the public or members

         25  of the press, you should know that both our
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          2  questions and the Department's answers are on the

          3  table there. So, if anyone would like those

          4  materials, you should feel free to obtain them.

          5                 The Chancellor made a commitment to

          6  me awhile back that he was very much committed to

          7  transparency, and he has lived up to that and we

          8  very, very much appreciate it.

          9                 But we're here today to conduct an

         10  oversight hearing on the Department of Education's

         11  Gifted and Talented programs, also known as TAG.

         12                 When I was in school in New York,

         13  public school student, it was called I believe IGC,

         14  which I forget what it stands for, we affectionately

         15  referred to is as International Gum Chewing,

         16  something or other, if I recall, when I was a third

         17  or fourth grader. But anyway, they're now called

         18  TAG, we're also here to consider Intro. 493, which

         19  as I mentioned, Lew Fidler is the author of.

         20                 Gifted and Talented programs are ones

         21  that I am very, very personally committed to. I

         22  think these programs are education gems. Although, I

         23  have real concerns about equity and access, these

         24  are programs that need to be supported. We need to

         25  address the issue of supply and demand. I think the
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          2  demand for these programs is not currently being

          3  met, hence my colleague's bill.

          4                 We need to ask some hard questions

          5  about quality control. It is much more difficult, it

          6  seems to me, to maintain quality, when or know

          7  whether you have quality in gifted and talented the

          8  tests don't provide the same kind of measure if they

          9  provide the measure in traditional programs, they

         10  certainly don't provide the same kind of measure of

         11  quality.

         12                 We dealt a little bit with this

         13  subject coincidentally on Monday when we had a

         14  hearing on testament and assessment. I am very, very

         15  concerned about the Department's and/or region's

         16  and/or district's lack of disaggregation of data.

         17  That seemed to me a fundamental obstacle to not

         18  being able to judge both the quality of the TAG

         19  program, but also potentially it hides the poor

         20  educational condition of the non-TAG program, and

         21  that, I believe, is a fundamental failing that the

         22  Department is going to have to rectify.

         23                 I would also just say at the outset

         24  that I'm concerned about, as I said equity and

         25  access. Equity here refers to the distribution of
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          2  these programs, are they in primarily communities of

          3  color at the same rate that they are in

          4  predominantly white areas. Also, there are issues,

          5  the geographic distribution is one issue. But so is

          6  the issue of access.

          7                 In other words, if you look at a TAG

          8  program, and you see that the TAG program exists in

          9  a racially mixed area, but the students in the TAG

         10  program are primarily white, I think very serious

         11  questions emerge that have nothing to do with the

         12  test, but have to do with who is getting access to

         13  the application.

         14                 And, so, I want to make sure that the

         15  Department knows who is applying, because the

         16  results will be skewed depending on who is applying,

         17  and application depends on access to information.

         18                 So, I'm a little concerned that the

         19  Department may be redoing the test, when the issue

         20  is access and information, and I'm hoping to hear a

         21  persuasive, and I have to tell you, I started off a

         22  little skeptical, a very persuasive explanation, as

         23  to why you are redoing the test, when the problem

         24  may not lie there.

         25                 Without further ado, let me turn to
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          2  my colleague, Lew Fidler, the author of Intro. 493.

          3  Thank you for your work on this bill, and please, if

          4  you'd like to make a statement, go right anead.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you,

          6  Chair Moskowitz. I first want to thank you for

          7  holding this hearing. This has become an issue that

          8  has finally drawn the attention of elected officials

          9  and government that I think has long been overdue.

         10                 I want to apologize to everybody for

         11  my voice this morning. I'm a little under the

         12  weather, but it will take a lot more weather to keep

         13  me from coming to a hearing on this topic.

         14                 I would echo many of the comments

         15  that the Chairwoman Moskowitz made. One of the main

         16  objectives of my intro is not only to increase the

         17  number of seats for Gifted and Talented programs

         18  throughout the City of New York, but to make sure it

         19  is truly throughout the City of New York and that we

         20  acknowledge the fact that every neighborhood in the

         21  City has gifted and talented children. It behooves

         22  us to make sure that a child does not need to get on

         23  two buses and a train and leave their neighborhood

         24  to find a gifted and talented program, and perhaps

         25  even at that then take the seat in a neighborhood
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          2  for a child that's in that neighborhood that is not

          3  getting access to a gifted and talented program.

          4                 We certainly have an obligation in

          5  this City to all our children to maximize their

          6  potential, and to give them an education that gives

          7  them that opportunity. And Gifted and Talented

          8  programs are absolutely necessary to doing that.

          9                 I am extremely gratified that the

         10  Mayor mentioned the words gifted and talented and

         11  expand in the same sentence during his State of the

         12  City Address. It is a long, long way from the first

         13  conversation that the Bloomberg Administration and I

         14  had about Gifted and Talented programs, and I think

         15  the measure of a great deal of progress on this

         16  issue.

         17                 However, I have a great deal of

         18  concern that what DOE means by Gifted and Talented

         19  Programs, and what I mean by Gifted and Talented

         20  Programs, may be two distinct and separate things,

         21  and will not serve the purpose to create programs

         22  that we call Gifted and Talented, if they aren't in

         23  fact Gifted and Talented Programs.

         24                 What I mean by Gifted and Talented,

         25  and I've been trying to think of a definition, a
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          2  Gifted and Talented Program is a program in which a

          3  child is immersed from the day, from the minute they

          4  walk into school until the end of the day when they

          5  complete their homework, in an integrated,

          6  coordinated curriculum that challenges them to a

          7  greater degree than students who aren't in gifted

          8  and talented programs are exposed to. That's what I

          9  mean by it. Not an hour, not some other amorphous

         10  concept, but something that is different and

         11  distinct. Every child should be getting a day-to-day

         12  education that challenges that child to their

         13  maximum potential, and we all understand that

         14  children bring different skill levels to the table.

         15  Those that bring the potential to be great or to be

         16  challenged to greatness, those that have other gifts

         17  need to be challenged, to have those gifts enhanced

         18  to the maximum of their ability. That's what we owe

         19  our children, and that, to me, is a substantial

         20  question that we need to have answered today. I need

         21  to know what the Mayor's commitment means. That's

         22  why I'm here. That's what I would like to hear

         23  today.

         24                 I thank you, Chairwoman, again, for

         25  holding this hearing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you. We

          3  are now going to hear from the Department of

          4  Education.

          5                 I'm not sure all who is here, but we

          6  have a lot of chairs, and I know Carmen Farina is

          7  going to be testifying. So, if you could introduce

          8  your colleagues, that would be great.

          9                 We've also been joined by Council

         10  Member Foster. Thank you for being here. And Council

         11  Member Koppell.

         12                 The light has to be off.

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I should

         14  know it by now. Good morning. It's my pleasure to be

         15  here today. I would like to introduce, to my left,

         16  Laura Kotch, who is in charge of all of the

         17  Professional Development that the DOE is embarking

         18  on, and Anna Commitante, who is our Director of

         19  Gifted and Talented, a position that we put on early

         20  on in order to be able to ensure that we were able

         21  to serve the diverse needs of the students in our

         22  City.

         23                 She also serves as the Director or

         24  City Hall Academy, and those are two things that

         25  work very well, because some of the practices that
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          2  we're doing in City Hall Academy, are practices that

          3  we want to see in all schools.

          4                 Before I go into my presentation, I

          5  would like to say, Madam Chairman, that I absolutely

          6  agree with you on the disaggregation of data.

          7                 I think it's long overdue. I think it

          8  is extremely important that we not use some students

          9  to make a school look good, and we are committed to

         10  getting that information before you, as quickly as

         11  we can, knowing full well that part of the reasons

         12  that the task force was put in place, is to begin to

         13  identify programs because not all programs are

         14  created equal, as Mr. Fidler is right in saying.

         15                 I also want to make a note that the

         16  broad sheet that we got as we came in has a lot of

         17  things that we believe are incorrect, and we would

         18  like to be able to have an opportunity to go through

         19  some of them and pass it back to you.

         20                 Some of it is corrected in the

         21  information we've given you, and others we will try

         22  to get to you within one or two days.

         23                 Now I will start.

         24                 I find that it's easy when I do a

         25  presentation to come up with some words that have
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          2  relevance to me. So, I would like to state that I

          3  believe that a lot of what we're talking about today

          4  can be nutshelled to some degree in three i's and

          5  one e. And the three i's are, Increase, Improve,

          6  Identify.

          7                 One of the tasks that I was given as

          8  Deputy Chancellor is to ensure that the Mayor and

          9  the Chancellor's mandate to increase gifted

         10  education in the City of New York, was done both

         11  appropriately, with thought and holding kids to high

         12  standards. And in order to do that, I think it is

         13  very important for me to have any credibility in

         14  this area is to give you a little bit of my own

         15  personal background.

         16                 I won't go into it a lot because you

         17  have it in the Hunter speech, but as a District

         18  Superintendent and a Region Superintendent you fill

         19  find that I actually increased the number of gifted,

         20  self-contained classes in the district and both in

         21  the region.

         22                 One of the schools that had one class

         23  in a grade went to two, many of our middle schools

         24  have entry requirements and they may have them in

         25  different areas, some schools it may be science, in
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          2  other schools it may be the arts, but we certainly

          3  enhanced the opportunities for students who came

          4  with some, either creative or academic ability, to

          5  find a niche for them. And you will also find that

          6  as we did that, our scores increased dramatically

          7  between our middle schools and our elementary

          8  schools as well.

          9                 So, I think increasing those kinds of

         10  programs throughout the City is crucial. I think as

         11  we increase them it's also important to see where we

         12  increase them, and how do we look at the ones that

         13  presently exist.

         14                 I think we need to improve the

         15  classes. I think calling a class a gifted class, and

         16  we call it by many names, a Lead, an Eagle, it has

         17  names all over the City, they're not all the same,

         18  they're certainly not created equal, and they don't

         19  all hold kids to the same high standards.

         20                 So, I think it's important to improve

         21  the professional development of teachers who worked

         22  in these particular situations. I also think it's

         23  important to improve the standards that we have in

         24  these classes. It is not unheard of to have students

         25  who are level 1 and 2's actually sitting in some of
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          2  these classrooms, and that's part of the

          3  disaggregation of data that we're doing now, and we

          4  need to be able to ensure that when we say the word

          5  gifted, that we all mean the same thing by it. It's

          6  important that we identify criteria for admission.

          7  We have as many different criteria as we have

          8  programs in the City, and it really needs to be that

          9  if a student were going to move from Brooklyn to

         10  Manhattan overnight and they were in a gifted

         11  program, they should be equally eligible, whether

         12  they're in Bensonhurst or on the Upper East Side,

         13  and it means that we need to have a uniformed plan

         14  on what we do and how we work with these.

         15                 I think it's also important to

         16  identify different methods of professional

         17  development to teachers, and it's also important to

         18  identify how do we bring professional development to

         19  principals.

         20                 In many schools programs work or

         21  don't work, according to the commitment of the

         22  principal and how they view having these students in

         23  this building, as a plus rather than just an aside.

         24                 I think it's important to equalize,

         25  and I absolutely agree with the way both of you
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          2  stated it, and, again, I'd like to give you what I

          3  mean by equalize, because it's not just about

          4  neighborhoods.

          5                 If you go back again to my history as

          6  a superintendent, we started one of the first gifted

          7  educations for special ed students in a middle

          8  school. It's a CTT class, and it's actually

          9  performing as equally as well as the regular ed

         10  students.

         11                 We started a special, a gifted

         12  program with high standards in Sunset Park, which is

         13  primarily a Latino neighborhood, because we did not

         14  have enough room in one of our middle schools that

         15  has a high admissions process, middle school 51,

         16  Sunset Park Prep, is outshining many of the schools

         17  in the City, and it's comprised of almost 100

         18  percent of Latino students, it also has an Asian

         19  community in that building that's also doing

         20  extremely well, in terms of performance.

         21                 We also had a bilingual gifted

         22  program, because there is no reason because you're

         23  an English language learner, that you're not gifted.

         24  If you think about kids who really speak two

         25  languaged fluently, they actually have a special
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          2  gift, and it might be in language acquisition. So,

          3  we were able to do that.

          4                 In one of the schools that you

          5  mentioned in some of your testimony, Brooklyn Tech,

          6  which was also one of my schools, has the largest

          7  number of African American students achieving

          8  advanced placement and passing those courses when

          9  they take them at the end of the year.

         10                 In terms of these e's and i's, I'd

         11  like to tell you a little bit about something we've

         12  done. We started a Think Tank this year. The Think

         13  Tank was to do all of that, to investigate what

         14  existed out there. A lot of it was hearsay. We did,

         15  and you're absolutely correct, not have valid

         16  information, and it was important that this Think

         17  Tank be comprised of regional representatives from

         18  every region in the City so we would have some kind

         19  of ability to ask questions, what exist, how did you

         20  create it, what kind of test do these kids take to

         21  get into your programs? How do you decide who stays

         22  in the program over a period of time? How do you

         23  remove kids if they're not performing well? And we

         24  found that there was absolutely no consistency in

         25  the City, and I think part of the Think Tank was
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          2  also to have divergent thinking, to have people on

          3  the committee, who didn't always agree with each

          4  other because part of the purpose of this Committee

          5  was to get the best thinking and decide what are

          6  some of the things that we needed to do based on the

          7  things that we were learning.

          8                 One of the things that we learned is

          9  there were actually parts of the City where you

         10  could get a sibling variance into a gifted program,

         11  and that in and of itself doesn't make any sense.

         12  Either you have a standard and a criteria where you

         13  meet independently, so that was one of the things we

         14  agree we would be eliminating immediately. We also

         15  found out that there was no way to evaluate kids on

         16  a yearly basis, and that you could actually have

         17  come in in kindergarten and continue there, even if

         18  your classroom performance was not up to standards,

         19  even if your test scores did not consistently show

         20  that you would benefit from this. And in many places

         21  there was no provision for bringing kids who may be

         22  better able to serve to sit in those seats in,

         23  because once you started, you continued throughout

         24  and there was no room for anyone else to come in.

         25                 So that became part of a commitment
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          2  that we have to ensure that the seats that are

          3  available in schools are actually used, and they're

          4  used by the appropriate students.

          5                 We also discovered that in many

          6  schools there was no commitment to add value to your

          7  community. So, if you were sitting in the gifted

          8  class in an elementary school, particularly in the

          9  upper grades, there was no enhancement of working

         10  with communities. If you're truly gifted, one of the

         11  things I feel is crucial and certainly my years as a

         12  teacher of IGC classes, and Anna was also a teacher

         13  of IGC, we make sure that kids took on community

         14  problems and issues and figure out solutions to

         15  them, because one of the things that Mr. Fidler said

         16  very appropriately, these are our resources for the

         17  future, and how do you train these kids to become

         18  public servants in a way. So, I think that was very,

         19  very important.

         20                 One of the things that the Committee

         21  also thought about, and is going to continue to

         22  think about, is how do we move forward, because our

         23  concentration this year was on elementary school to

         24  ensure that more middle schools have honors classes

         25  and more high schools have AP classes, and honors
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          2  classes, depending on what those particular high

          3  schools want to do.

          4                 One of the absolutes that happened is

          5  that we also said that many of the teachers who are

          6  presently in these courses have not had any kind of

          7  professional development or any kind of ability to

          8  meet and talk to each other. So, one of the things

          9  we also said that we would start highlighting

         10  schools that had very good programs, and that we

         11  would encourage people to visit them.

         12                 A big part of the task force was to

         13  discuss assessments that are presently being used

         14  throughout the City, and the more the discussion

         15  took place, the more we realized we had a real

         16  problem.

         17                 In some parts of the City you have

         18  assessments that were in the past used to highlight

         19  students disabilities, not necessarily their

         20  academic achievements. We had at least six to seven

         21  different assessments being used and in many schools

         22  there were no assessments whatsoever, simply

         23  principal selection. And principal selection, as we

         24  know, might be very intuitive, but also sometimes

         25  has to bow to political pressure.
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          2                 So, we want to make sure that these

          3  programs, when instituted, have an equal playing

          4  field for all students, and that's an issue of

          5  equality. It was decided that we would put out an

          6  RFP, Request for Proposal, and that we would try to

          7  develop, have someone develop, and we would put

          8  people on the committee who are not DOE employees,

          9  to start looking at what would be something that

         10  would constitute a very good assessment, typically

         11  for four and five year olds. And we would like that

         12  assessment to have some elements of the IQ tests

         13  that we know do show outstanding abilities, such as

         14  spatial relationships, but also have more components

         15  that are non-verbal in nature.

         16                 If we're going to level the playing

         17  field, not all four-year-olds, which is the primary

         18  qualification right now, have high variability, but

         19  they may actually be gifted and very creative. The

         20  same way that being a good reader doesn't make you

         21  gifted, it's what you do with the knowledge once you

         22  have it, and it turns it into something else that

         23  really matters.

         24                 We will also, in addition to the

         25  assessment, which probably is going to take us time
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          2  to write the RFP, then we have to put it out for

          3  proposal. So, we assume that in the time it's going

          4  to take, this assessment will not be ready until

          5  2007. Between now and then districts and regions

          6  will use exactly what is existing now but also with

          7  multiple criteria.

          8                 We expect regionals to come up with

          9  the multiple criteria that they think will best suit

         10  their own specific neighborhoods.

         11                 We're also going to ensure all

         12  parents are made aware of the programs and where

         13  they exist, including the ones that we're increasing

         14  throughout the City, and then the information to

         15  parents will be in eight languages, and they will be

         16  available not only in the school, in all the schools

         17  the kids go to, but also in community centers and

         18  churches and any other place that we feel groups of

         19  parents, certainly nursery schools and things like

         20  that.

         21                 We expect that there will be yearly

         22  evaluations of student progress in all classes once

         23  the students move up and part of what the Think Tank

         24  will be working towards is developing a rubric,

         25  which is an evaluation of what student work should
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          2  be at the end of each grade, second, third, fourth,

          3  fifth.

          4                 We don't think that there is one

          5  model for working with gifted, because truthfully

          6  there are many ways of looking at students who are

          7  very high talents. You could have a child who is

          8  very talented in the arts and they certainly add to

          9  our City. We wouldn't have the Philharmonic and some

         10  of the other institutions in New York and having

         11  these people available to mentor our students is

         12  important.

         13                 So, we believe that there is a place

         14  for self-contained classrooms, such as the Anderson

         15  Program, and other TAG programs in other parts of

         16  the City, but that, again, we must mean the same

         17  thing when we use the word gifted. It's not fair to

         18  water down a program in certain neighborhoods. And

         19  the assumption is those kids are not as able to be

         20  held to the high standard as in another place.

         21                 We also feel there's a place for the

         22  school-wide model, and the school-wide model

         23  presently exists in schools that are very high

         24  functioning. 321 in Brooklyn, 329, all of my former

         25  district, because those are the ones I know, and 261
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          2  are all schools that have very high parent

          3  involvement, very high achievement status, they all

          4  working on the school-wide enrichment, which means

          5  that the principal has had to do a lot of work, for

          6  example, to find out who are the kids who are really

          7  talented in science, for example, and make sure they

          8  have extra time during the school year and the

          9  school day to have extra help in that particular

         10  area. And also they're very talented in writing.

         11                 Unfortunately, I don't know too many

         12  people who are equally talented in all areas.

         13                 This requires a tremendous amount of

         14  professional development, once again, for both

         15  principals, as well as teachers. Our goal is this

         16  summer to have professional development, and there

         17  will be an RFP being put out to work with

         18  universities, to work with our teachers on the

         19  things that is not necessarily open knowledge, or at

         20  least I don't think it's gotten out there as much as

         21  it should, is that beginning in September, teachers

         22  who teach in self-contained classrooms must be State

         23  certified.

         24                 In order to be State certified, they

         25  must have certain credits, and those credits must be
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          2  in certain areas, and one of the reasons, though

          3  that we're increasing classrooms, but we need to be

          4  very careful, we need to be ensured that the right

          5  teachers are teaching these classes. So, that's part

          6  of what we're working towards.

          7                 We are fully committed to making data

          8  publicly available where these classes are, what

          9  kind of programs there are in them, and to whatever

         10  degree that we can now institute, and we have Laura

         11  working on this, code names, code numbers in this

         12  system for classes that are labeled self-contained,

         13  gifted, we should be able not only to tell you how

         14  those classes are doing, but how they're doing in

         15  comparison to other students, and other students

         16  within their own schools.

         17                 I think it's important as we move

         18  towards professional development that we also follow

         19  one of the most common concerns that parents have

         20  about students who are high achievers, and that is

         21  that they're bored in school. And we know that there

         22  are certain practices that teachers should and can

         23  do in the classrooms that will help eliminate that.

         24  And one of the things, and I go back to my years as

         25  a principal in PS 6, that I found, that teachers
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          2  spend too much time teaching things that kids

          3  already know. They used to call them review weeks,

          4  they call them review days, they call them all kinds

          5  of things. And we need to be able to make sure that

          6  in all classrooms, but particularly in these

          7  classrooms, the teachers do assessments of the

          8  curriculum to be covered in the beginning of the

          9  unit rather than at the end.

         10                 So, that what kids already know we

         11  don't do, or that you also have small group

         12  instruction in every classroom, so that the kids who

         13  know something can move on to something else. And I

         14  think that's certainly part of what we plan to do in

         15  terms of our professional development.

         16                 We also feel that teachers who are

         17  teaching in these classes would be well served by

         18  being very skilled in a particular content area,

         19  such as science, history or math, and that's

         20  certainly part of what we would hope Universities

         21  would help us do and develop strong coursework in

         22  these areas for the teachers so that when students

         23  come to the classroom able to articulate very high

         24  level of science or American history, for example,

         25  that the teacher can work with them, but also figure
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          2  out who they can have them work with so they can

          3  become much better at following up on this and

          4  creating new knowledge.

          5                 I would like to end so I can take

          6  your questions, that I believe that the Mayor's

          7  mandate is to increase, improve and equalize gifted

          8  education.

          9                 We can do all this while maintaining

         10  high standard and rigorous application of these

         11  standards. Anything less would be a disservice both

         12  to our kids and to the title gifted.

         13                 New York City's most valuable

         14  resource are our students, we would be remiss if we

         15  did not develop the skills of our gifted students,

         16  and in any area of the exceller. The real challenge

         17  is to make sure that we don't use the word lightly,

         18  we don't use it as a status symbol, that we don't

         19  penalize our kids by giving them more than we can

         20  handle, and that we ensure that as we work through

         21  this, that this becomes something for all of us in

         22  all our neighborhoods.

         23                 I also want to say that we believe

         24  that parent involvement is crucial in this area, and

         25  one of the commitments I made early on is to not
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          2  only share this information but work thoroughly with

          3  the CECs, which are elected parent representatives

          4  from the entire City of New York, and on our next

          5  agenda is the full disclosure of everything I've

          6  talked about here but even more specific, how it

          7  relates to their specific districts and regions. And

          8  it is working with the CECs that we will also move

          9  forward in ensuring that these programs do go to the

         10  whole City as need be.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         13                 I want to begin with your two models

         14  of gifted and talented, one being the

         15  self-contained, one being what you referred to as

         16  SEM, Schoolwide Enrichment Models. And I guess I

         17  would start off just by saying that on some level

         18  it's politically incorrect, you know, one always

         19  feels a little uncomfortable talking about gifted,

         20  because if you love and admire children the way I

         21  do, and the way you do, then there's a little bit of

         22  discomfort, because when you walk into any room with

         23  a group of 30 children, you can see the sparkle in

         24  their eyes, unless the educational system has

         25  dampened that. But let's take kindergartners, you
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          2  can see the educational sparkle in their eyes, and

          3  if you talk to them for a few minutes, you can begin

          4  to see individual potential. And I would not in any

          5  way want our discussion about gifted to suggest that

          6  the system, and I think we're all in agreement, that

          7  the system's obligation, or the school's obligation,

          8  is to get every child to their potential. In a way,

          9  the discussion we need to have is, let's assume for

         10  a moment, which we know is not the case, that all

         11  kids were getting a good education, what is the

         12  definition of gifted? Is it IQ?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: In my

         14  opinion, gifted has three different components.

         15  Number one is intellectual ability, absolutely, you

         16  can't negate that. The second is the ability to be

         17  creative. Because you can have someone who learns

         18  something, but the real genius, if you want to call

         19  it that, is the one who takes that knowledge and

         20  creates something new about it. So, a student who is

         21  very much into science, is looking to learn new

         22  things about science and create things, and that

         23  would be true I think in any area where a student is

         24  really proficient.

         25                 And the third thing that I think is
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          2  very important is the ability to stay focused on a

          3  task. You can actually see some students who really

          4  have a passion for something who will stay focused

          5  on something for three and four hours.

          6                 So, I think it's a combination of all

          7  of those. I don't know which one I would give more

          8  value to than the other, but I don't think being

          9  politically incorrect is what this is about, because

         10  if you think about it, gifted comes under the same

         11  definition, at least with the federal government,

         12  that special ed and English language learners and

         13  all come in. These are kids with special needs, and

         14  we need to nurture those needs.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, but you

         16  say in your speech at hunter that you have found

         17  gifted students, I'm quoting here, gifted students

         18  are everywhere. That statement suggests to me that

         19  you're talking about that sparkle in kids eyes, and

         20  not five percent or ten percent or 15 percent or

         21  whatever percentage it is that has the intellectual

         22  ability, the creativity and the ability to stay on

         23  task.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I'm saying

         25  by that very clearly that you can have students that
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          2  are not necessarily in self-contained classes, but

          3  you can also have a student that's gifted in one

          4  particular area. You have a student who is gifted in

          5  writing, or a student who is gifted in music, for

          6  example, they may not be equally gifted in other

          7  areas. So, you can find them, but that doesn't mean

          8  that every child is gifted. I would not tell you

          9  that by any stretch of the imagination.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, let me

         11  ask you this: What percentage are gifted, by your

         12  definition?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Nationally,

         14  less than five percent.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Less than five

         16  percent.

         17                 And are you including in that

         18  definition what you would call artistically

         19  talented?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I would

         21  have to go back and look at that. I really can't

         22  tell you how I would define in different academic

         23  areas. I wouldn't want to be pinpointed how many in

         24  science, I haven't done --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But I'm just
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          2  asking, does the five percent include --

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No, I would

          4  say that means overall that can carry in all

          5  academic areas. That it wouldn't be specific to an

          6  art --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: No, I

          8  understand it wouldn't be specific, but would it

          9  include -- does the five percent?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, it's five

         12  percent plus?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         15                 And can you give me some sense of

         16  where does that five percent come from. In other

         17  words, are there, the experts in the gifted and

         18  talented field, is there a widespread agreement?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No. No,

         20  there's no widespread agreement.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It's five

         22  percent, or do some people say it's ten, and other

         23  people say it's 11 and other people say it's 20.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I'm sure

         25  you can go as wide as ten, I don't think you'd have
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          2  any agreement. If you look at the research in this

          3  country, even the experts don't agree. I mean, the

          4  one area most people agree that students are able to

          5  achieve, and, again, it depends on what age you're

          6  looking at it, Blooms Text Sonomy (phonetic) is the

          7  only thing that I think just about every single

          8  program agrees is a base for, these children should

          9  be able to synthesize, they should be able to

         10  develop hypothesis, they should be able to be

         11  critical thinkers.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm just

         13  talking percentages right now.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I don't

         15  want to get involved in specific percentages,

         16  because that isn't --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, my

         18  colleague has a bill that has a percentage in it, so

         19  we can't, we hear to discuss that. It may be an

         20  uncomfortable topic.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It's not

         22  uncomfortable. I think it's how you look at ten

         23  percent. Because I think that parents also who have

         24  kids, who are very talented in some areas, it also

         25  depends on the situations where they are at right
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          2  now.

          3                 For example, if you're looking at who

          4  your level 3's and 4's are in the City, they are all

          5  over the City, and they are in self-contained

          6  classes, they are also in heterogeneously mixed

          7  classes, and the ability there for teachers to

          8  differentiate for those kids who are given the

          9  ability to move forward is very, very important.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, I want

         11  to try and stick -- I understand there are a lot of

         12  subjective criteria, there are also some objective

         13  criteria and I want to try and stick to those. I'm

         14  trying to avoid loosy-goosy thinking here. So, let

         15  me just ask, let's take something like the Hunter

         16  Elementary Test, or we can take the Stuyvesant Test

         17  or the Bronx Science, let's take the specialized,

         18  there are 22,000 applicants to seven selective high

         19  schools, and how many acceptances, something like

         20  3,000 -- 4,800 a year.

         21                 This is my question. My question is:

         22  If we took the 4,801st kid who scored in such a way

         23  that they would have access, would that kid not be

         24  able to do the work out of Stuyvesant, Bronx

         25  Science, Brooklyn Tech?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: They could

          3  probably do the work, but I think the question we

          4  would have is that when you're looking at the test,

          5  that's a test that's really based on knowledge

          6  gains. It's not necessarily based on the same

          7  criteria that you would be looking for gifted and

          8  talented.

          9                 So, I mean, we're looking at a

         10  specialized high school --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It's not based

         12  on aptitude in your --

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: That is not an

         15  aptitude test? The Stuyvesant test is not an

         16  aptitude test.

         17                 I mean, look, I want to be clear.

         18  You're saying the Stuyvesant test is not an aptitude

         19  test that measures knowledge.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It measures

         21  knowledge, that is correct.

         22                 There's a difference between an IQ

         23  test and a content test.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I understand

         25  that there is a difference between an IQ and a
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          2  content test, and you're saying that the Stuyvesant

          3  test is content, it's not based on aptitude? Are you

          4  really sure you want to make that statement?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No, I don't

          6  want to make it absolute, but from what I know about

          7  that, the kinds of prep tests that you would take

          8  for those tests is mostly based on content. It's

          9  verbal, it's vocabulary, it's math skills. It's a

         10  skill test. It's a high-level skilled test, but it's

         11  not --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, it's not

         13  based on some intellectual capacity, and it's not

         14  therefore merit-based?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It's merit

         16  based because those kids obviously worked hard to

         17  get the knowledge that they need to pass those

         18  tests.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. That's a

         20  very bold statement you're making. If you're saying

         21  that the Stuyvesant, Bronx Science and Brooklyn Tech

         22  are not aptitude based.

         23                 Let me go to the Hunter one which is

         24  IQ based. I don't know if I have the numbers in

         25  front of me, but how many kids take the Hunter --
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          2  are you familiar with how many kids approximately

          3  take the sixth grade entrance to Hunter?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Donna has

          5  the answer.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Will someone

          7  remind me what Dr. Matthews.

          8                 DR. MATTHEWS: Three-thousand took the

          9  test, 224 got in.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Three-thousand

         11  took the test, two-hundred and --

         12                 DR. MATTHEWS: Two-hundred

         13  twenty-four.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Two-hundred

         15  twenty-four got in. That's an IQ test, correct?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: No, that's not

         18  an IQ test.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Not at

         20  sixth grade. Which ones are you talking, elementary

         21  school?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: The

         23  three-thousand, that's the sixth grade. And that's

         24  not an IQ test?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Would it be

          3  considered an aptitude test?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No. It's an

          5  ability test.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: An ability

          7  test.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Which is

          9  the same thing that they're taking at Bronx and

         10  Stuyvesant.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You were

         12  saying that the Stuyvesant test was based on

         13  knowledge, not ability?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No, no. The

         15  same test that's taken at Hunter is the same type of

         16  test that would be taken at Bronx. It's

         17  content-based.

         18                 I mean, they're agreement with me.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, I'm

         20  going to ask them. They're going to have to testify

         21  to, and they're going to have to answer the

         22  Committee's questions as well. No one escapes

         23  answering the --

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No, but I'm

         25  just saying, you can't really separate it totally. I
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          2  mean, I think we're looking for apples and oranges

          3  in a way, and the reality is, the basic differences

          4  between IQ and skills based. I think those two are

          5  different. And, again, you can't do the same kind of

          6  test depending on the age. A four year old, or a

          7  five year old, doesn't have content. I mean, they

          8  haven't lived long enough to develop it.

          9                 So, when you're talking about the

         10  test of different ages, it means the kids have

         11  obviously acquired knowledge. They have been able to

         12  take this knowledge to a certain level, and I mean,

         13  just as principal at PS 6, we had some of the

         14  highest levels of kids being admitted to Hunter, but

         15  it was based on what the kids learned and how they

         16  learned it and how they were able to get it to the

         17  next level.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: There are

         19  different kinds of tests, I understand the different

         20  ages have different types of tests. What I'm trying

         21  to get at is, clearly, tell me if you disagree with

         22  this statement, clearly there are kids who take the

         23  Hunter test, whether it's when they take it at the

         24  age of four or when they take it, I presume in fifth

         25  grade, for entrance into sixth grade. I think I'm
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          2  getting that right. Or when they take the

          3  specialized high school test. There are more kids

          4  who could handle the accelerated learning than are

          5  admitted; is that correct?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: That's

          7  correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: By how much

          9  are we off? How much are we off in terms of the

         10  supply and the demand. You were saying that there

         11  was a five percent figure, and you didn't really

         12  want to specify how deeply committed you are, here

         13  we have a test case right in New York. We don't need

         14  these national figures. We have something much

         15  closer to home where we have X number of kids

         16  applying, and my question to you is how many of

         17  those children could benefit from accelerated

         18  learning?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: First of

         20  all --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Are you going

         22  to answer my question?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Yes, I am.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, good.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: But I just
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          2  wanted to make a statement about the numbers and the

          3  percentages.

          4                 I think you can find research all

          5  over the country for the past 25 years and you get

          6  different figures, depending on what you're looking

          7  for. For places that say we're going to have an IQ

          8  of 130 cut off, the percentage is going to look like

          9  this.

         10                 For places that say it's 95

         11  percentile on some other measure, the percent is

         12  going to look different.

         13                 So, it's really difficult to sit here

         14  and say which magic number are we going to use --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It's your

         16  obligation. You've got 22,000 kids applying to

         17  specialized high schools. If you tell me that you

         18  think 10,000 of them would benefit from accelerated

         19  learning, we need to provide seats for those 10,000

         20  kids.

         21                 If you think that it's just a perfect

         22  match, we've got 22,000 applying, and only 4,800 of

         23  them can benefit, then we're doing pretty well.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay. But

         25  the other piece is that nothing says we're not
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          2  increasing those numbers. We'll be starting a new

          3  specialized high school in Staten Island, Staten

          4  Island Tech will become a specialized school.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It's

          6  interesting, Staten Island --

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Well, they

          8  had none, so they were zero. If you look at the

          9  things we gave you, they were at zero.

         10                 The other thing is, we are starting

         11  in local schools, which is what many parents wanted,

         12  advanced placement courses and honors courses, which

         13  many parents are also happy with --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm

         15  frustrated, Carmen, you're not answering the

         16  question. You are telling me that you can't say

         17  whether the supply meets the demand; is that what

         18  you're telling me? You cannot say whether the supply

         19  meets the demand.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: There are

         21  many more students who would be eligible for Bronx,

         22  Stuyvesant and Brooklyn Tech, than there are seats

         23  necessarily.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: How many? How

         25  many? Give me a number.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Let me

          3  finish.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Give me a

          5  number.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Many

          7  students only want to go to some of those schools.

          8  You will find that students who do not get to

          9  Stuyvesant do not necessarily want to go to the next

         10  school.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm happy to

         12  understand, I'm glad to hear that you want a

         13  consumer-driven system, but first I want to know

         14  your expert opinion of the 22,000 applicants,

         15  approximately how many of them do you think could

         16  handle the accelerated learning, how many? Fifty

         17  percent? Ninety percent?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: At the

         19  specialized high schools we have 26,000 applying. We

         20  have 4,000 accepted, and we have 10,000 currently

         21  attending, in terms of the students enrolled in

         22  these particular schools. But we also have screen

         23  programs in other schools that also have --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You're not

         25  answering my question.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Well, then

          3  the answer is at this moment I do not have an answer

          4  for you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. And do

          6  you believe that it's a question that is important

          7  to answer? Or do you think you can just --

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I think

          9  that those students are getting some of what they

         10  want in other schools, because there are enough

         11  specialized programs in existing good schools, such

         12  as in Queens, where almost every single high school

         13  has a specialized program.

         14                 Midwood High School has institutes of

         15  math and science in their programs that are not

         16  reflected in these numbers.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I find that

         18  answer profoundly disappointing and inaccurate.

         19                 I think you need to speak to parents

         20  about their anxiety and their decision. My parents

         21  told me that if I didn't get into Stuyvesant we were

         22  leaving the City. That was very simple, you know?

         23  You get into Stuyvesant or Bronx Science or Brooklyn

         24  Tech, one of the three, or we're going to have to

         25  move out of the City. I don't know how many other
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          2  parents -- I don't think my parents were trying to

          3  make me anxious, they just said that that's the

          4  reality, that's the way they felt about it. Either I

          5  get into one of those three schools or I leave.

          6                 I just think you have to answer the

          7  question --

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay, I'm

          9  going to answer that question on a more personal

         10  level, the way you just answered as to your parents.

         11                 As a parent of two high school

         12  students, I felt that my daughters, one in

         13  particular, would get an equally good education in

         14  an institute at Midwood High School than she would

         15  have gotten in Stuyvesant. So, I think that parents

         16  throughout the City make different choices.

         17                 If you're a parent at Bayside, or

         18  you're a parent at Cardozo, those schools are

         19  equally fought for as the schools in the specialized

         20  high schools because of what's going on in those

         21  schools is equally --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: No doubt. But

         23  the question we're trying to determine is how many

         24  of those -- we didn't have a Midwood in Manhattan.

         25  We didn't have a Midwood. So that wasn't an option.
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          2  That's not the challenge that parents face. The

          3  challenge they face is if their child could benefit

          4  from the accelerated learning, and because of demand

          5  they're not going to get in, then we have an

          6  obligation to provide more schools at an accelerated

          7  learning rate, and you're telling me that there's

          8  one in Staten Island, that's great. But you're

          9  creating, I think it's a hundred, I forget the new

         10  small schools, 160 new small schools, and not a

         11  single one of those small schools, as Kristin Kanes

         12  testified in front of this Committee, is a selective

         13  admissions. Why not?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: First of

         15  all, you're asking about the students that take the

         16  specialized high school exam. The large number that

         17  received no offer, correct? 22,000 that received no

         18  offer.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right. Right.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Versus

         21  those who take the test.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right.

         23  Correct.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay.

         25  You're asking us to give you a number as to how many
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          2  of them would be able to do the quality of work that

          3  students that get into the specialized high schools

          4  can do.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: That's right.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: And we

          7  don't have at our fingertips all of those, that test

          8  data.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You can't

         10  possibly plan for the future unless you know that --

         11  and obviously, it's not a science. You couldn't

         12  possibly know, you know, you're right to the

         13  percentage point, but you need to have a ballpark

         14  figure, are we talking about 50 percent and

         15  therefore we need at a minimum 10,000 seats? Or are

         16  we talking about basically there's one kid who

         17  applied to Stuyvesant Bronx Science and Brooklyn

         18  Tech who unfortunately missed the cutoff and

         19  therefore we have to find a solution for one kid or

         20  tens of thousands of kids, it makes a difference.

         21  And I am appalled that thinking has not gone into

         22  that question.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Well, let

         24  me go back a step because there are many more

         25  schools that parents choose who have high ability,
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          2  such as, and many of them are in Manhattan. You have

          3  Upper Lab. Upper Lab has an admissions criteria, you

          4  must qualify at the same level that you just about

          5  do, you don't take a specialized test of a different

          6  kind --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: There are

          8  disappointed parents whose kids do not get into

          9  Upper Lab. As a Principal of PS 6, we hear --

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Right. But

         11  I can give you a whole slew of other schools, and I

         12  will give you schools that have the same criteria to

         13  get in as some of these, but they're not called

         14  specialized schools.

         15                 If you're asking me if we need more

         16  schools like Stuyvesant, I would say that is

         17  something that we need to look at, but I don't

         18  always think that some of the schools have

         19  necessarily -- we're looking for better teaching in

         20  all our schools, and you have to look at value-added

         21  in schools. Do the kids come out of some of these

         22  schools other than, you know, sometimes just with

         23  the name, smarter than what they went in with?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We're going to

         25  get to quality. I'm a graduate of Stuyvesant High
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          2  School and so I'm pretty familiar with the quality

          3  issues that just because kids test well doesn't mean

          4  that you're offering them a high quality education.

          5  That's a different matter.

          6                 Let me turn to the question of how

          7  does the department say on the one hand that it's

          8  committed to gifted and talented, then go open 150

          9  plus new small schools and not have a single one,

         10  not a one, have selected admissions.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I think at

         12  this point there will be a lot of looking at the

         13  larger schools that have specialized programs, and

         14  the idea was that a lot of these schools are able to

         15  serve the needs of those kids in those particular

         16  programs.

         17                 The institutes within the larger

         18  schools.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, let me

         20  move on. To me that demonstrates lack of commitment

         21  to Gifted and Talented --

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: And by the

         23  way, Eva, that doesn't say that as part of what we

         24  do in our Think Tank.

         25                 One of the things that we did this
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          2  year specifically is try to focus on the elementary

          3  schools.

          4                 One of the things we said is we would

          5  be reviewing everything in our middle schools. And

          6  our middle schools, by the way, in the City of New

          7  York, are increasing.

          8                 We have more seats for Gifted and

          9  Talented kids in middle schools this year than we've

         10  had in other years, so as that increases, then it

         11  makes sense that the seats in the high schools would

         12  increase as well.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, let's

         14  move on to the enrichment model.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We have 102

         16  self-contained programs right now in middle schools,

         17  so the idea would be that that has to increase the

         18  seats in high school and that is going to be part of

         19  the discussion that we have at the Think Tank.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, the

         21  enrichment model, I just don't see how you justify

         22  that as Gifted. Every child needs enrichment, and I

         23  know as a champion of, for example, arts education,

         24  you understand that better than anyone else. I just

         25  don't understand how -- you know, you have this
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          2  model of this kid who is interested in discovering a

          3  Star, and we bring in an astronomer to satisfy that

          4  kid's interest, the enrichment model just seems

          5  flawed if you take seriously the notion of Gifted

          6  education. Every child should have enrichment.

          7  You're going to create some schools that have

          8  enrichment whereas others don't?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: All

         10  teachers should be able to differentiate instruction

         11  and be able to provide enrichment for kids. The

         12  school-wide model takes kids who are gifted in

         13  particular and makes sure that that gift is

         14  nurtured, whether it be in the arts or science or

         15  history or writing.

         16                 You will also see statistically that

         17  if you look at schools that have school-wide models,

         18  they tend to as a school perform better on what we

         19  would call our standards-based programs.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I don't doubt.

         21  I'm for enrichment too. I want every child in the

         22  City of New York -- I'm troubled that we're cutting

         23  back in terms of not -- you know this Committee has

         24  championed sports, arts, music, as have you and the

         25  Chancellor and so forth, but how do you justify an
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          2  enrichment model? What are the kids who are not

          3  gifted -- they don't get an enrichment model?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So everybody

          6  gets an enrichment model, and how do you distinguish

          7  that?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay.

          9  You're asking two different questions, but you're

         10  actually getting to the same thing.

         11                 One, in the beginning you asked me,

         12  do I think all kids are gifted, and my answer is no.

         13  And now you're saying don't all children deserve

         14  enrichment, and my answer is yes. But those are two

         15  ends of the same thing.

         16                 Some students need more enrichment or

         17  more gifted education in the area that they're

         18  gifted in. Not all students want to study science

         19  that might be more appropriate for a sixth grader

         20  and third grade, but students might. They're gifted

         21  in that particular area.

         22                 Do all students deserve to be

         23  enhanced in their education or work in small groups?

         24  Yes. But in a way the questions you're asking me are

         25  at opposite ends of the spectrum and you're not --
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          2  so, let's be uniform on this. Do all students need

          3  enrichment? Yes. Are all students gifted in the same

          4  way? No. So, we need to differentiate how we provide

          5  that service.

          6                 Again, if you have five children in a

          7  class who are able to do high level math, to me it's

          8  very important that those kids be able to get

          9  special instruction, and be able to participate in

         10  math contest and take part in other kind of math

         11  activities.

         12                 You will have, even within a

         13  self-contained gifted class differentiated

         14  instruction, and you will have kids in a gifted

         15  class who need more of something, versus less of

         16  something else. So, it's just about teaching tools.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm sure my

         18  colleagues are going to come back, and I have a few

         19  more questions, and I want to turn the podium over

         20  to my colleagues.

         21                 The new test that you want to do,

         22  you're concerned about uniformity as if uniformity

         23  is somehow an indicator of quality; is there

         24  something wrong with the tests that are being

         25  administered for the four year olds and five year
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          2  olds, where you're looking at the tests given at PS

          3  116, and saying, you know, this is a flawed test,

          4  whereas the test at PS 77 is a great test, and

          5  therefore we should be administering that test

          6  rather than -- because lack of uniformity inherently

          7  is not a bad thing. You wouldn't say to a bunch of

          8  artists, you know, you lack uniformity. You need to

          9  all be creating --

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: The tests

         11  that were created, and that are being used in the

         12  City, some are very heavily verbal ability tests.

         13  That by a very nature presumes that students have

         14  been raised in very rich language homes. It means

         15  that they have a very rich vocabulary. It doesn't

         16  necessarily always stand the test of time, as kids

         17  grow up --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So you think

         19  the test is biased; is that correct?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I don't

         21  think it was created for that point. Some of them

         22  are.

         23                 I think the other part is that some

         24  of the tests that are personally being used in the

         25  City were actually created originally to test a
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          2  student's disability and for special help that they

          3  need before they go to school.

          4                 For example, the SOI was never

          5  created to be a test to test for giftedness.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And when you

          7  say they are biased, they are biased because of

          8  socioeconomic circumstance?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Not

         10  necessarily.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, what

         12  kind of biased are you talking about? Is it gender

         13  biased? Is it racial biased?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Think about

         15  what kind of students do not grow up. I mean, right

         16  now I think language development issues in the City

         17  are growing at tremendous rate, regardless of

         18  socioeconomics. It's one of our largest growing

         19  disabilities, and, yet, these students who may not

         20  have some of the same experiences that other

         21  students have, but it has to do with the kind of

         22  language.

         23                 Also, if you do not speak English at

         24  home, how do you come and take a test that's only in

         25  English? And yet you could be very gifted in another
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          2  language.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, you see

          4  all sorts of biases in the test that is administered

          5  to four and five year olds across the City?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I think we

          7  can do better, I think there are parts of the test

          8  that are very, that are very good. I think spatial

          9  relationships, based on my experience as a

         10  principal, was a much better indicator over the

         11  period of time of what kids could do.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: All right. So,

         13  that would be a yes, you see bias?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I think

         15  verbal ability by itself is the major determiner of

         16  who goes in certain classes is not a right way to

         17  go.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And do you see

         19  bias in the tests for middle schools, entry into TAG

         20  middle schools?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I think

         22  that's much more, that's a fairer test. Because it's

         23  based on more equalization and the kids have come

         24  with equal opportunities to get into some of those

         25  programs.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: How do kids

          3  all of a sudden get these equal opportunities?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Because

          5  it's content skill based.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, but what

          7  if they go to a poorer school?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Then part

          9  of the problem that we have to do is ensure that

         10  those kids have some kind of training. But I still

         11  feel that the middle school admittance is much more

         12  of a level playing field.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And what about

         14  the high school? Is that biased?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I think

         16  it's a more level playing field.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: More by a lot

         18  or a little?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I don't

         20  want to make that determination.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I think these

         22  are determinations you need to be making, if you're

         23  in the business of administering Gifted and Talented

         24  --

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: That is
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          2  part of what the Think Tank will be doing, middle

          3  schools and high schools is something that we said

          4  is on our agenda right now. We really wanted to

          5  focus, we had enough issues with just elementary

          6  school, and that is really where we took the focus

          7  on the earlier grades.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm not

          9  persuaded that what we need is a new test.

         10                 I wonder whether if you put all the

         11  money you're spending on the new RFP into access,

         12  which is clearly a problem. When parents have

         13  complained to me that they walk in the door to a

         14  school that has a TAG program and the black and

         15  Latino parents are encouraged to go into a general

         16  ed, whereas white parents are encouraged to go into

         17  a TAG program, that is the story I've heard over and

         18  over again. That is clearly a problem. A newer RFP

         19  is not going to solve that problem. We have limited

         20  resources. You know, if you have an argument about

         21  the bias here, I didn't hear it.

         22                 Let me go on --

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: How can you

         24  do what you just said without having assessment that

         25  decides which of the kids are going to go in it?
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          2                 Does that mean that simply because,

          3  and I think it's an insult to say because we're

          4  going to equalize the classes because these parents

          5  don't have enough representation. I hear, I think --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I never said

          7  that. Let's be very, very clear. What I said is that

          8  the parents are not getting an equal opportunity to

          9  apply. They're being discouraged. And unless you

         10  have numbers, the system needs to have numbers.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I agree

         12  with you there.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It needs to

         14  find out how many black and Latino parents are

         15  applying to the TAG program at such and such a

         16  school. Do you have that data?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No. But we

         18  will from this moment on. You're absolutely right

         19  about that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And if you

         21  were to find that there was a real problem, wouldn't

         22  you want to fix that before you changed the test?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No. Because

         24  the test is so different throughout the City. We

         25  don't have any uniformity.
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          2                 You can't say that you are in a

          3  gifted program. The criteria to get in there is so,

          4  so divergent throughout the City. And that's really

          5  one thing.

          6                 The other issues you bring up are

          7  very legitimate and are things we're going to be

          8  working on as well. And I think it also goes back to

          9  early, even early childhood, pre-k and classes

         10  before pre-k and how we look at all that. So, there

         11  is no one easy answer to the problems you're

         12  bringing up, with the many years in the making.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I have one

         14  final question, and then I'm going to turn it over

         15  to my colleagues who I know have a lot of questions.

         16                 On the issue of quality, am I correct

         17  on the hearing we had on Monday that currently the

         18  Department of Education could not tell the

         19  Committee, for example, how the kids did, and I'll

         20  pick a school at random, you know, how the kids at

         21  PS 51 in the TAG program did. You couldn't tell, you

         22  couldn't go back to your office and get that

         23  information; is that correct?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No, Eva, I

         25  don't know if you got it, but we are definitely

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  going to do that for you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But you don't

          4  currently have it.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We don't

          6  have it because the difference in many of the

          7  disparates has been so wide that we do have ATS

          8  numbers for self-contained gifted that had

          9  admissions, but you had such a wide way, in some

         10  places the lead classes, those were principal's

         11  decisions. They're not listed like that. They're

         12  simply tracked.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm asking

         14  very simple questions. Does the Department have at

         15  its fingertips information about how the TAG

         16  self-contained classes, how the kids did in a

         17  particular TAG program as distinct from the kids in

         18  the building.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We haven't

         20  done it that way in the past. We are going to get

         21  that information to you shortly.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: How would you

         23  measure the quality of the TAG program if you didn't

         24  have that information?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I think the
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          2  TAG programs were evaluated on a school-by-school

          3  basis, because the principals do have the

          4  information according to the different teachers in

          5  different classes, they have it on a

          6  school-by-school. But it wasn't necessarily taken to

          7  be looked at on the district or regional level on

          8  that basis. But it will be and that was a very

          9  legitimate issue that you brought up and we're going

         10  to certainly pursue that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Let me turn it

         12  over to my colleague, Lew Fidler.

         13                 All right. I have to tell you, I'm

         14  very confused. And I think part of it, I mean, some

         15  questions that the Chairwoman asked were very, very

         16  helpful. And they're helpful to me to try and

         17  understand some of the questions that I need to ask,

         18  because I guess we need to get to some of these

         19  threshold premises and numbers.

         20                 I will confess, that the ten percent

         21  figure that was in my bill was largely the result of

         22  throwing a dart at the wall.

         23                 I am not an educational expert, and I

         24  don't know how to come to that measure, but

         25  unfortunately, from listening to the questions and
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          2  answers, I'm not sure that you've defined how to

          3  come to that measure either.

          4                 Now obviously there are different

          5  levels at which different types of tests are used to

          6  measure whether or not a child belongs in an

          7  accelerated program. Let's take, you know,

          8  kindergarten, elementary school; what's the

          9  appropriate kind of test that should be given at

         10  that level to determine whether a child should be in

         11  an accelerated program?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: There are

         13  very few tests in this country for that age level,

         14  which is one of the reasons that we have

         15  traditionally had what Eva referred to as IGC

         16  classes, because we didn't always start programs

         17  that young. We generally started programs in third

         18  or fourth grade when you had a body of information

         19  about kids based on different, a combination of

         20  skills, as well as aptitude, which is what that

         21  combination is.

         22                 Because it's so hard to define what

         23  we mean by that in the early grade, because right

         24  now there isn't so many measures, is one of the

         25  reasons we're doing an RFP. How I see a
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          2  kindergarten, and it's also the reason why many of

          3  us are verbal in nature, because we can't ask kids

          4  to sit down and write something.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Deputy

          6  Chancellor, maybe I'm asking a even more basic

          7  question than the one that you seem to be answering.

          8  Is it an aptitude test? It's obviously not a

          9  knowledge test, because the kids haven't --

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, it's some

         12  kind of aptitude test that we're talking about at

         13  that level?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It's a

         15  combination of aptitude, verbal ability, spatial

         16  relationships, social skills, organizational skills.

         17  It depends on -- I know that at PS 6 and in District

         18  2, we used a combination of different skills based

         19  that were put together.

         20                 I know they are using IQ tests in

         21  certain places.

         22                 The SOI was based on being able to do

         23  certain skills in a certain period of time. So, it's

         24  a wide range of things.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, let's
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          2  assume now that we have a uniformed test, that your

          3  RFP developed a uniformed test along that model for

          4  kids entering the school system, what percentage of

          5  those kids would benefit from an accelerated program

          6  after they received this test?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: In other

          8  words, if we developed a test and we had a cut-off

          9  grade, we need to find out how many people are going

         10  to apply, because, again --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: No, no. No,

         12  no. I'm not asking about how many people would

         13  apply, because I think there are a large number of

         14  families that do not apply because they don't know

         15  or they think there is no hope, or they think there

         16  is no seat. I'm really getting to the question that

         17  the Chairwoman is driving at, and if we are going to

         18  measure whether or not we are providing an adequate

         19  number of seats for children in Gifted and Talented

         20  Programs, adequacy is defined on this side of the

         21  room, as having a seat for every child who benefits

         22  from it.

         23                 So, I need to understand, now I'm

         24  allowing you this test, all right? You know, let's

         25  say, you know, if it scored one to ten, you know, at
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          2  sevens and up are kids that would benefit -- you

          3  know, if every kid took it, sevens and up, how many

          4  kids are going to be in that category? What

          5  percentage of entering children would benefit from

          6  an accelerated program, a gifted and talented

          7  program entering our school system, based on the

          8  appropriate test as you see it?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: This is,

         10  you know, we're talking kids here, we're not

         11  talking, you know, apples and oranges. So, let me

         12  answer this as close as I can. Let's use numbers,

         13  let's use round numbers like a hundred. If a hundred

         14  children took the test, and 70 children scored at

         15  whatever the cutoff was, our expectation would be to

         16  be able to make sure that those 70 students have

         17  seats.

         18                 However, I think the other pieces,

         19  that we want to make sure that although all the kids

         20  would benefit, not every parent would want to be in

         21  those particular classes, because there are other

         22  schools, particularly in neighborhoods where there

         23  has been a long time development of good programs

         24  where parents would equally go to, but in terms of

         25  who would benefit, they would all benefit, and our
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          2  hope would be once we see where these kids come into

          3  this test over the City, that we would develop

          4  programs.

          5                 But I'm talking in a vacuum here,

          6  because we don't know how many kids are going to be

          7  taking these tests.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, you

          9  know, I've allowed you your ideal world, you'll

         10  allow me mine.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay,

         12  absolutely.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: You're going

         14  to have these programs in every neighborhood, and I

         15  dare say there would be scarce parents that would

         16  choose something less than the best education for

         17  their child, if the opportunity were given to them

         18  at their neighborhood school in their community. I

         19  can't imagine why they wouldn't do that.

         20                 So, I would have every child offered

         21  the opportunity to take this test. I would hope that

         22  every parent would avail themselves of that

         23  opportunity.

         24                 And, so, to me, if we are going to

         25  build this system correctly, and make sure that
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          2  there's a seat for every child that would benefit

          3  from it, we need to know what that target group is.

          4  So, you know, I think the answer I'm getting is you

          5  don't have the vaguest idea how many kids at this

          6  point would be, who should be in an accelerated

          7  program entering our school system.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I think

          9  kindergarten is very difficult because you have, you

         10  know, look, they're five years old, they're four

         11  year olds, also, you could have a very gifted child

         12  whose social skills might need more assistance. I

         13  mean, there's a wider range of differences at that

         14  age than they would be at other ages.

         15                 If you're asking me do I expect every

         16  child who scores well that would be guaranteed a

         17  seat over a period of time? My answer is yes.

         18                 One of the things that we had

         19  actually thought of was actually once a test was

         20  developed, which is something we actually did, and

         21  one of my former jobs is assess all pre-ks, all

         22  across the board, so that parents didn't even have

         23  to request the testing, they would have it

         24  automatically so no one would be left out of, you

         25  know, the whole assessment piece.
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          2                 I think that what we're talking about

          3  increasing in elementary school for next year is

          4  only phase 1, and we anticipate that those increases

          5  be taken over a period of three years and that every

          6  year there would be an incremental increase.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'll get to

          8  the increase question in a minute.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: But let me

         10  also be clear on something, because I think we're

         11  just making an assumption here, that only gifted

         12  programs have good teaching for these kids, and you

         13  have some really good schools in the City where

         14  parents, even if their kids tested gifted, were not

         15  opt out of to go into those programs.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Deputy

         17  Chancellor, I don't make that assumption in any

         18  level that only gifted programs have good teaching,

         19  and if I made that assumption it would be

         20  outrageous. And it would be an outrageous set of

         21  reality to think that the only good teachers are in

         22  gifted and talented programs. I don't think that for

         23  a second. I don't think anyone in this Committee

         24  does either.

         25                 Now let's get to the next level. So,
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          2  now we're at intermediate school or high school, is

          3  there any difference in the type of testing at

          4  intermediate school and high school that you would

          5  have for Gifted and Talented programs?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Somewhat

          7  more specialized, yes. The middle schools -- the

          8  high schools, because they specialize in certain

          9  areas, like, you know, LaGuardia would be more of an

         10  arts talent to get in, Bronx Science obviously would

         11  have more of the math and science. Middle schools

         12  look for more around, in terms of standardized

         13  tests. So, I would say there is a difference in

         14  middle schools and high schools.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay. But in

         16  general they are more knowledge tests, as opposed to

         17  aptitude tests?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Correct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay.

         20                 And do you have any notion, let's

         21  take middle school, what percentage of New York City

         22  public school kids entering middle schools would

         23  benefit from accelerated programs?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We have 102

         25  self-contained class programs in the City of New

                                                            71

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  York in middle school. So, I'd have to multiply that

          3  by approximately 30 --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, in other

          5  words, you're telling me that that's the number and

          6  it's adequate?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No.

          8  Absolutely inadequate.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: That's not the

         10  question I asked.

         11                 I asked you, do you have any sense of

         12  how many children entering intermediate school level

         13  in the City of New York would benefit. Let's say

         14  they were all tested, every blessed one of them.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: In middle

         16  school you will find that the standards that were

         17  used are level 3s and 4s in both math and reading.

         18  So that you would have either self-contained gifted,

         19  or you would have accelerated classes in literacy or

         20  math, depending on what area they have.

         21                 It doesn't necessarily take into

         22  account kids who might be talented in science and

         23  history and other areas.

         24                 Would more kids benefit? Absolutely.

         25  Are there other ways to serve some of these needs?
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          2  Yes.

          3                 Is this an area we hope to increase?

          4  Without a doubt.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Deputy

          6  Chancellor, I hate cutting you off --

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No, no. By

          8  all means.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: But I asked

         10  you to answer the question I'm asking. I'm not, you

         11  know, Domenic is a trial lawyer here, let's try and

         12  keep it on the issue that's before you, all right;

         13  and that is, I'm trying to ask you a question, not

         14  for you to give me the answer that you want me to

         15  hear, but for the answer to the question I'm asking,

         16  all right?

         17                 There are 102 self-contained Gifted

         18  and Talented classes at intermediate school now. I

         19  want to know how many there should be, if every

         20  child who would benefit from one got it, and the

         21  question is, how do you test for that, what type of

         22  test, and what level would you say, you know, it's a

         23  cutoff, and how many kids fall into that level?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: First of

         25  all, the standardized tests are the tests that get
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          2  you into the middle schools that have gifted and

          3  talented programs, that's how you get in. Or

          4  talents, because a lot of them are addition middle

          5  schools.

          6                 Right now in the City of New York

          7  what we are looking at, again, this is the next

          8  phase of our Think Tank, which districts are

          9  underrepresented by having middle schools that have

         10  admissions procedures so that these kids would get

         11  specialized classes, and that's one of the things

         12  we're working on right now.

         13                 Moving into September, there are

         14  already some regions that have increased the number

         15  of middle schools that will have admissions criteria

         16  to get in so that they would receive that.

         17                 Do I have a specific number for you?

         18  No, I don't.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So we're using

         20  standardized tests?

         21                 And what score level of the

         22  standardized test do you think a child is

         23  appropriate to an accelerated program?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It varies

         25  from district to district, program to program,
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          2  school to school.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm asking you

          4  your opinion. Not what is, but what should be.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Well, the

          6  test scores vary from year to year, in terms of

          7  cutoff. So, what happens, just like in some, you

          8  have this year, for example, in one of the districts

          9  the score, they wanted to raise the scores because

         10  too many kids were now achieving the score that was

         11  in existence three years ago. So, this is something

         12  that gets looked at. Level 3s, middle level 3s and

         13  4s have generally been the cutoff.

         14                 As the scores get better, then we

         15  also need to look at should that entrance score, but

         16  it's different from school to school.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: All right, I'm

         18  obviously not getting the answer to the questions

         19  I'm asking, so...

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: But you're

         21  also saying to me you don't have a common test in

         22  kindergarten, but then you're saying should we have

         23  a common middle school cutoff.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm not saying

         25  anything. I'm asking your expertise, all right? And
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          2  if a middle level 3 represents a child that should

          3  be in a gifted program, I was going to then

          4  follow-up and ask you how many middle level 3s and

          5  up are there, and then how many seats are there to

          6  accommodate them.

          7                 You know, I don't seem to be getting

          8  to the gist of that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

         10  Fidler, if I could just interrupt, because I spent

         11  20 minutes and wasn't successful. We need to get an

         12  answer from the Department. The Department, if

         13  you're going to be in the business of educating

         14  kids, you need to give us your best guesstimate of

         15  demand. That's what we're asking about. We're trying

         16  to assess, and my colleague's bill is a bill that

         17  sets aside a certain number of seats.

         18                 You need to tell us, based on your

         19  expertise, what you think the demand is. We

         20  understand that there may be a parent out there who

         21  thinks, I happen to think my child is gifted. Every

         22  parent happens to think that. We understand that

         23  parents may sometimes get it wrong, but as experts

         24  you need to make some calculation of how many could

         25  benefit from accelerated learning and then look at
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          2  the number of seats and subtract, a simple

          3  subtraction problem, that you can tell how much

          4  demand is outpacing supply. And I would hope that in

          5  24 hours you could give us a rough figure. Go back

          6  and do the subtraction so that this Committee could

          7  make some judgments. Thank you very much.

          8                 Council Member Fidler.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well said,

         10  Chairwoman. And I was just trying to get to this

         11  question in a different way and obviously I'm not

         12  getting that answer either.

         13                 Let's go to the models. I share the

         14  Chairwoman's feelings about the school-wide model

         15  not truly being a gifted and talented program

         16  because it's going to take, you know, it's going to

         17  affect the entire school, and it strikes me that we

         18  should be doing that in every school in the City of

         19  New York and if a child is a particular, you know,

         20  if he's an astronomer, he should be getting extra

         21  astronomy or whatever. That doesn't mean that that

         22  child is gifted and talented.

         23                 So, when we talk about this mandate

         24  to expand, can you tell me how much of this

         25  expansion is going to be in self-contained classes,
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          2  and how many is going to be in this school-wide

          3  enrichment model?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: In

          5  Elementary school only there are 12 self-contained

          6  that will be increased mostly in under-represented

          7  areas, and that's the September '05. Our hope is to

          8  double or triple that for the next three years. And

          9  remember there, again, that the issue is also

         10  certified teachers and the school-wide enrichment

         11  model we anticipate 30, a minimum of 30 schools, and

         12  the 12 self-contained is a minimum, there may be

         13  more. And that's only kindergarten, which means you

         14  will actually end up in a lot more classes as those

         15  kindergartners move up.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: All right, so

         17  then almost triple, about one-quarter have a social

         18  studies, not math. So it's about one-quarter of the

         19  new gifted and talented programs are going to be in

         20  the self-contained model, three-quarters are going

         21  to be in this school-wide enrichment model.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay, is that

         24  a decision that was made by the Think Tank?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: That
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          2  decision was made with the regional superintendents.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: With the

          4  regional superintendents.

          5                 So, tell me, who is on this Think

          6  Tank, let's start with that. I'm curious about that.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We have one

          8  representative from every region. We have two

          9  outside --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Oh, by region

         11  you mean from the professional staff for the region.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Some are

         15  principals, some are teachers, deputy

         16  superintendents, some are LIS's, at every region put

         17  someone on the Committee who they felt had some

         18  expertise in this area. And we have two outside

         19  representatives.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, before

         21  we get to the outside representatives, how many

         22  parents are on the Think Tank?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: This was

         24  not the point at which we're bringing parents in.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So the answer
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          2  would be none.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: None.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And who were

          5  the two outside consultants?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: They're

          7  Donna Matthews from Hunter College, and Joe Renzuli

          8  from University, and Shirley Cohen from Hunter

          9  College -- University of Connecticut.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Three.

         11                 And while I was out of town getting

         12  this cold there was an article in the paper about a

         13  consulting contract from Mr. Renzuli. Can you tell

         14  me a little bit about that?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: He is

         16  actually working with us in training our regionals,

         17  our City Hall Academy staff and so forth, so he's

         18  been working with us in that capacity.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And there is

         20  no connection between Mr. Renzuli being the

         21  architect of our new Gifted and Talented programs as

         22  they're expanding?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: He'll have no

         25  role in that?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Dr. Renzuli

          3  has been working with New York City for over 20

          4  years. He has been an integral part of many of the

          5  region's professional development way beyond -- way

          6  before this, and will continue to be way after I

          7  leave. So, it's one of the models that's recognized

          8  by the federal government in the areas of gifted and

          9  talented, and his expertise is valued, as are other

         10  experts who have something to share.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And Dr.

         12  Renzuli is an advocate of the school-wide enrichment

         13  model; is that not correct?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Among other

         15  things, yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: But I just

         17  want to be very clear. He's not being asked to

         18  create the new gifted and talented programs of the

         19  City in any way?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay.

         22                 I'm going to pass the baton on,

         23  because I don't want to be too much of a pig, but I

         24  just want to say that in my view, the point the

         25  Chairperson made is absolutely apt, which is if
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          2  we're going to consider whether or not the

          3  Administration has come far enough to make my intro

          4  unnecessary in terms of trying to meet a need that

          5  41 members of the Council plus had seen as out there

          6  and existing in the City for additional seats for

          7  Gifted and Talented programs, we're first going to

          8  have to define who should be in it, how many people

          9  there are, and then on the other side, something

         10  that my bill has not done that I absolutely feel

         11  we're going to have to do, is we're going to have to

         12  define what a gifted and talented program is at the

         13  various levels because in my view, and I think the

         14  Chairperson's view, and probably the view of most of

         15  the members of this Committee and the Council, the

         16  school-wide enrichment model is not a Gifted and

         17  Talented program. Taking a child out of a class for

         18  a couple of extra hours of instruction is a gifted

         19  and talented hour, not a gifted and talented

         20  program. Every kid in every school should have

         21  enriched education in something that is special to

         22  them, music, art, astronomy, talent, whatever, a

         23  Gifted and Talented program is an entirely different

         24  thing by definition, as far as I am concerned, and

         25  that is, I guess, a difference of opinion that we
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          2  seem to have and while I'm gratified to hear that

          3  there will be 12 self-contained programs, that is

          4  spit in the bucket, compared to the number of kids

          5  that deserve better.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I also want

          7  to say that based on the numbers we have given you,

          8  eight, we are serving right now almost eight percent

          9  of our K to 8s in some form of gifted programs.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, again,

         11  the rub there would be in how you're defining gifted

         12  and talented.

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No, these

         14  are in self-contained.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: You're telling

         16  me that eight percent of children in New York City

         17  public schools are in self-contained Gifted and

         18  Talented programs right now?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It's

         20  actually 7.52.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: 7.52 percent

         22  of the seats in New York City elementary schools are

         23  in self-contained gifted and talented?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We'll give

         25  it to you at the end.

                                                            83

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Oh, I would

          3  appreciate that.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Keep in

          5  mind that these self-contained have very -- it's in

          6  your attachments, that these self-contained run a

          7  wide gamut. Some of these, in my opinion, I would

          8  not label gifted and talented, but based on what the

          9  districts had done in the past, these include your

         10  Eco classes, your Lead classes, your Venture

         11  classes. You know, they have different names in

         12  different places. That is the number of kids sitting

         13  in those classes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay, so then

         15  I would appreciate, if you could break that down,

         16  the 7.52 percent, break them down by the type of

         17  programs, what those programs are and whether you

         18  would consider them to be talented.

         19                 I'm familiar with Eagle. You know,

         20  Eagle qualifies for me, okay? So, you know, that's

         21  because Eagle is in my part of Brooklyn, so I know

         22  what it is. I mean, I'd like to know what you

         23  consider to be --

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I believe

         25  you received the list.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We have the

          3  list, but what you're telling the Council member,

          4  and my reaction when I looked at the list, I saw

          5  schools on there where I said that's a gifted and

          6  talented program. So, the question that my colleague

          7  asked very ably is, we want the list, we want a

          8  little star where you tell us in your view this

          9  doesn't cut the mustard.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: And that I

         11  would love to get you --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Because that

         13  percentage is going to go way, way, way, way down

         14  once we talk about minimal quality standards. We

         15  want to know if that's four percent or two percent

         16  or one percent.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: You're

         18  absolutely right. The question was, how many kids

         19  are sitting in these programs. The other question

         20  is, how many kids deserve to be sitting in these

         21  programs. That's a very different answer. In some of

         22  these programs --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We want the

         24  answers to three questions. Deserve --

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: By
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          2  standard, by scores.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right. We want

          4  to understand what your definition of gifted is,

          5  because we've heard a lot of different things and

          6  we're not really sure. But given your definition, we

          7  want to know a number, a percentage, we want to

          8  know, of the 1.1 million students, approximately how

          9  many of them should be receiving an accelerated

         10  education? How many of them are?

         11                 Then of the programs, we want to know

         12  which of those programs, by your standards, and we'd

         13  like you to tell us what your standards are, because

         14  you may not have as high standards as we have.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I would

         16  think it's just going to be the opposite.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, we hope

         18  so. We hope so. We need to know what that percentage

         19  is.

         20                 So, if you can go back and give us a

         21  little checkmark, we don't need any fancy computer

         22  thing, so that we can calculate that percentage and

         23  know whether it's really 7.5 percent, that would be

         24  helpful.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We have been

          3  joined by Council Member Yassky, Brewer, Recchia,

          4  DeBlasio and Vann. We are now going to hear from

          5  Council Member Liu.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Madam

          7  Chair, for holding this hearing. And thanks to

          8  Council Member Fidler --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: If I can

         10  interrupt, Andy Lanza also, Madam Chair. He feels

         11  left out.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I am so sorry.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Even though

         14  he's a Republican we make him welcome here.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: That was not a

         16  partisan omission, I apologize.

         17                 Council Member Andrew Lanza from

         18  Staten Island, we're glad you're here.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, thanks to

         20  Madam Chair for holding this hearing. Thanks to

         21  Council Member Fidler for bringing this to the

         22  forefront, and thank you to my friend Andy Lanza for

         23  joining us in this hearing.

         24                 We've spent a lot of time, I think,

         25  just trying to figure out what gifted is, and I do
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          2  have a problem with the Deputy Chancellor giving a

          3  major speech on gifted programs and how the

          4  Administration is looking to expand gifted and

          5  talented programs, and yet, we're still not really

          6  able to put our finger on exactly what gifted is.

          7                 I don't see it as a day and night

          8  black and white issue. I think what you've said

          9  about how different programs, I guess different

         10  programs enhance learning in different areas, and

         11  when we say gifted, we're talking about different

         12  subject areas, different kinds of talents, what have

         13  you, different kinds of skills that may have been

         14  acquired, or be introduced to each individual

         15  student.

         16                 So, I don't think it's an easy thing

         17  to measure and we tried to make it into a black and

         18  white do we have enough seats, do we not have enough

         19  seats, and I understand it's not that easy to do.

         20  But on the other hand, it's very easy for the

         21  students in schools, in programs, that are labeled

         22  gifted, either they are gifted or they're not. It's

         23  very easy for the parents, that we have to deal with

         24  all the time, to understand if their child is gifted

         25  or is not.
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          2                 And, so, I think it is imperative, as

          3  the Charwoman said, and as Council Member Fidler

          4  talked about, it is imperative for your Department

          5  to either come up with a better name for these

          6  programs, come up with a more accurate label, or if

          7  you want to be using the same label, gifted and

          8  talented, you better define what those labels

          9  actually mean. Because it's not all that easy,

         10  dealing with the parents and the students who are

         11  not labeled gifted, or who were denied the label of

         12  gifted because they applied to a program or a school

         13  and they were denied admission.

         14                 Let me ask what I think is a pretty

         15  simple question. Does the Department consider being

         16  gifted something that can be measured on an absolute

         17  basis? Or is it a comparative attribute?

         18                 Is a student, when you say a student

         19  is gifted, or these few hundred or few thousand

         20  students are gifted, are they gifted because there

         21  is an absolute measure that you can assess whether

         22  they are gifted or not? Or is it a comparative, is

         23  it a comparative description?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It's really

         25  both. I think also we're confusing above average
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          2  ability with gifted, they're not the same thing. You

          3  can have a student who can read very well, but

          4  gifted mean they're in another stratosphere.

          5                 What parents call gifted may not be

          6  necessarily what a true, you know, expert considers

          7  gifted. But I think we're missing -- I think what

          8  I'd like to see for the kids, and I think it was

          9  mentioned here, who would really benefit from some

         10  form of accelerated learning. That's really one of

         11  the keys, differentiated instruction. I think that's

         12  one of the keys.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, with regard

         14  to accelerated learning, I think there's a whole

         15  spectrum. So, that's definitely something that we

         16  can't break into, you know, if this learning is

         17  accelerated and this is not, it's got to vary almost

         18  for each individual student.

         19                 Let me get back to the term gifted,

         20  or gifted and talented. In your summary, as you

         21  talked about, you indicate some schools, and you

         22  even mentioned the high schools that have selected

         23  examination processes; are those gifted high

         24  schools?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We don't
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          2  use that term at the high school level. It is really

          3  used more in terms of getting the students in in the

          4  K to 8 models.

          5                 You know, this isn't something that

          6  we have experts in this nation who agree on, so for

          7  me to presume that I can have all the answers on

          8  this, I think I would probably be a consultant to

          9  the federal government.

         10                 I don't think this has an easy

         11  answer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I haven't heard

         13  anybody on this Committee so far presume to know the

         14  answers either, that's why we've asked you to

         15  testify, and we're happy that you're sharing with us

         16  what you know.

         17                 Let's take the example of the Hunter

         18  examination, Hunter High School examination that's

         19  given in sixth grade, would that be some measure of

         20  giftedness?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I think

         22  it's a measure of students who perform very high,

         23  have very high abilities, and perform in a way that

         24  they will benefit from accelerated learning in a

         25  very high way.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, that sounds

          3  like an absolute measure.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It is but,

          5  not necessarily --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: But you only have

          7  a certain number of spots. So, I guess you have to

          8  say, it's got to be a comparative measure. Either

          9  that or every single year the law of large numbers

         10  gives you precisely --

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay. Let

         12  me be very specific on this one.

         13                 As a former principal of PS 6, a lot

         14  of my students were eligible, quote/unquote, to take

         15  the test.

         16                 When they took the test, a certain

         17  percentage got the cutoff. You could argue that the

         18  kids who missed it by one point, and Donna wasn't

         19  there at the time, but we can go back, will say I

         20  only missed it by one point, why then can't I get

         21  into it?

         22                 We go back and we look, was it did

         23  they do better in their writing piece, was a writing

         24  piece involved in it, a math piece? And does it make

         25  a difference whether they scored better on one part
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          2  than the other?

          3                 Every time you take the test there's

          4  a subjective part of it. You also then can say, how

          5  far down in cutoffs do you go down, and at what

          6  point do you say there aren't enough seats? Because

          7  I remember we argued this over and over again. So,

          8  I'd love to give you absolute answers, it would

          9  certainly make my job a lot easier, but the reality

         10  is in this area we're struggling with this as we

         11  speak.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: But I think

         13  there's a hesitancy. I'll tell you, personally I

         14  think that this whole notion, I've always had a lot

         15  of problems with this label "gifted," or "gifted and

         16  talented." And I've had problems with it because the

         17  way we administer it makes it into a comparative.

         18  It's comparative. It's not absolute. You can't say

         19  you're gifted, you're not gifted, no.

         20                 What you might be able to say is

         21  based on these imperfect exams that we have, or

         22  these imperfect evaluation criteria that we have,

         23  you are more gifted than 90 percent of the other

         24  students.

         25                 And I think if we communicate that to
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          2  parents more readily and more willingly, I think

          3  that would solve a lot of -- people may not want to

          4  hear what they want -- what they are hearing, but at

          5  least will be more truthful.

          6                 You started your testimony about how

          7  we're not trying to be politically correct, but yet

          8  by continuing to use this "gifted and talented"

          9  label in some kind of an absolute way, that itself

         10  is trying to be politically correct.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA:  You're

         12  absolutely right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And we don't need

         14  that anymore. There are so many school systems in

         15  this country that readily give the students, and

         16  they know that these measures are not perfect,

         17  they're rankings. They're student rankings. College

         18  applications ask for those student rankings.

         19                 However, in many of the schools in

         20  New York City, they don't give them. I guess because

         21  it's not politically correct or because it's too

         22  subjective or because it's inaccurate, because there

         23  are so many other fallacies that are continuing to

         24  be present in our school system. But at least if

         25  we're going to continue to use the words gifted and
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          2  talented, we either need to acknowledge that it's a

          3  comparative concept, and only ten percent of the

          4  kids in our school can be, or a fixed number of

          5  students can be put into these programs, or not.

          6                 I don't know if it's necessarily a

          7  numerical target that you can exactly identify in

          8  terms of the number of additional gifted and

          9  talented seats that you need to create, but we need

         10  to better define it, better communicate it to

         11  parents and students in the school system.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I agree

         13  with you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         15  Council Member Yassky. And we've also been joined by

         16  Council Member Gallagher.

         17                 Council Member Recchia.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Good morning,

         19  Deputy Chancellor Farina, how are you?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Wonderful.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Prior to

         22  being Deputy Chancellor, you were Superintendent,

         23  correct?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And you were
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          2  a Superintendent in District 15?

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And before

          5  you got to District 15, how many gifted and talented

          6  programs were there?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Elementary

          8  school?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Elementary

         10  school.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: There were

         12  three schools.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And middle

         14  school.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Middle

         16  schools, there was one screened middle school.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: But not

         18  gifted and talented?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. And

         21  once you became Superintendent, how many were there?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We

         23  increased the number in elementary school by two, PS

         24  1. We had one at 38. We added a class at PS 230.

         25  They had one class, we added two classes. And we
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          2  added a special ed gifted at MS 51, which is the

          3  gifted middle school.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So, how many

          5  gifted --

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: And other

          7  middle schools we also increased. Upper Carol is an

          8  admissions school.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: But how many?

         10  My question was very simple. How many schools did

         11  you increase once you became Superintendent in

         12  elementary schools?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I would say

         14  we increased at two elementary schools, and we

         15  increased at middle schools by about three or four.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Three or

         17  four.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Those are

         19  self-contained. We increased in other ways as well.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So that means

         21  there was like a total of seven in the whole

         22  district?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We only had

         24  22 schools.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I understand
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          2  that.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. So,

          5  now, in District 15 there's only five gifted

          6  programs since you left?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No, I don't

          8  think that's right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well,

         10  according to this chart right in front of me.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I count five.

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay, it's

         14  numbers. Elementary school. PS 1 --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: What I'm

         16  asking, according to this chart, there is only five

         17  gifted programs in District 15.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: If that's

         19  what it says, then that's what it is.

         20                 But why is that an issue?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Oh, I'm going

         22  to tell you why that's an issue.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Oh, good.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I'm going to

         25  tell you why. Because when I read in your testimony,
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          2  I'll let my professional record speak for itself,

          3  because nothing could be further from the truth, is

          4  that Gifted and Talented programs, okay, they're not

          5  expanded in District 15. The middle school children

          6  got shipped out to other districts in District 15

          7  when you were the Superintendent, and I feel you

          8  really don't support the Gifted and Talented

          9  programs.

         10                 So, you know what? You're correct.

         11  Your professional career speaks for itself. And I

         12  feel that the Gifted and Talented programs in this

         13  City is not what it should be, number one, it's not

         14  being expanded, and I'm going by the numbers.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I have to

         16  tell you that if you look at the communities that

         17  are represented in District 15, that the decisions

         18  were made, were made in conjunction with school

         19  leadership teams, principals and teachers.

         20                 For example, one of the schools that

         21  had a gifted program chose to eliminate the gifted

         22  program, chose to eliminate the gifted program and

         23  is now an exempt school with 75 percent of those

         24  kids score above the average, and that's PS 29. So,

         25  it's not just looking at your numbers. It's looking
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          2  at why those decisions were made, and how the

          3  community chose to look at those numbers. 321, which

          4  is one of the top schools in the City of New York,

          5  does not want a gifted program in that building.

          6                 So, this was not meant to take or put

          7  away in places where parents and teachers came to me

          8  and said, this is what we need or what we want, we

          9  did it, the rest of it speaks for itself, you're

         10  absolutely right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Right. And

         12  that's why this City, the parents, and why we had to

         13  introduce legislation to make sure the Gifted and

         14  Talented programs do not go away.

         15                 Let's move on to why you feel there

         16  should be one test for kindergarten and first

         17  graders throughout the City. Why shouldn't every

         18  region be able to implement the test that they

         19  choose to be creative?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Then where

         21  is the standard? How can one part of the City call

         22  their program gifted. We are now looking as we move

         23  through the grades that a certain percentage of kids

         24  in those programs are actually level 1 and level 2

         25  just to make people happy to say they have the kids
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          2  in a gifted class.

          3                 We need to have some standard of

          4  operating.

          5                 We just went through the whole

          6  discussion on how we're going to evaluate middle

          7  school. If you have a kid in the Stuyvesant, at

          8  least we know that everyone who got into that school

          9  all had passed the same kind of standard, and

         10  regardless of where they came from in the City.

         11                 It seems to me that if we're talking

         12  standards, the standards have to apply to this as

         13  well.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, then

         15  you're taking away the creativity from every region

         16  to implement the kind of test that they want and the

         17  type of programs that they wanted, the Gifted and

         18  Talented programs.

         19                 MS. COMMITANTE: (Not identified for

         20  the record.) We're working with the regions on this,

         21  and the reason why we're looking at a test that

         22  perhaps is better, is because many of the tests that

         23  are being used, and have traditionally been used,

         24  have only served to meet the needs of a small group

         25  of students, and they're leaving out ELL, they're

                                                            101

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  leaving out special ed and they're leaving out

          3  students of color, and we have to take a look at

          4  that and we have to do better. We need an instrument

          5  that is fair.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: And also,

          7  assessment is not about being creative. We are

          8  creative in our teaching, we are creative in our

          9  practices, but assessment, no one is telling you

         10  when you take the SATs or the PSATs or entrances to

         11  colleges, be creative. We're saying have a standard

         12  measure, so if you're saying you're getting into

         13  Harvard or Yale or whatever, you've all passed a

         14  certain minimum criteria.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: But then why

         16  aren't we letting each region be creative, and let

         17  them develop what the types of programs that they

         18  want? Like it was done in the past?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We've said

         20  that part of the thing that would happen is that the

         21  multiple criteria that's tied into this would be at

         22  a regional basis. One region may want to have a

         23  certain kind of interview and another one would have

         24  to have another, but the reality is, when we say

         25  gifted and go back to what Councilman Liu said, that
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          2  we have to all be using the same vocabulary, and

          3  mean the same thing, and maybe we need to define

          4  this differently, but this is not about creativity.

          5  There is either a standard or there isn't a

          6  standard.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, onto my

          8  next question. You say that we also want to be

          9  working with principals who want to implement

         10  school-wide enrichment models. So, let's say if a

         11  principal wants to implement a school-wide

         12  enrichment model, but the superintendent charge of

         13  the region is against it, will the principal still

         14  be able to do that?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Absolutely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So the

         17  principal will have the final say, not the

         18  superintendent?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I would

         20  assume that in most cases they would be working

         21  together.

         22                 I can't imagine that that wouldn't be

         23  part of it. I've had many principals who have

         24  already e-mailed me to give me their input on what

         25  they would like to do, and then every single case

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  I've sent them back to the Regional Superintendent

          3  and say I would certainly suggest they speak to the

          4  Superintendent to see how they could work together

          5  on this. I think in most cases it should be a mutual

          6  decision.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. Now, we

          8  are going to be increasing, you said, this year by

          9  eight classes, 12 classes.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Twelve

         11  self-contained kindergarten classes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And where are

         13  they?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Minimum,

         15  right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Where are

         17  they?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: In

         19  under-served districts. There were at least five

         20  districts in the City that had no programs

         21  whatsoever. We are going to start by putting them in

         22  those districts.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Could we get

         24  a list of where they are?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Yes. They
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          2  should be in your packet. And if not, I have it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: All right. I

          4  just wanted to know where they were. If you have

          5  that list, we'll get them.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: What's the

          7  attachment number, if you can just give it to us? It

          8  says right on --

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: If you

         10  don't have it, I'll leave it with you before I

         11  leave.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I don't

         13  remember seeing that list.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I'll leave

         15  it with you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         17                 MS. COMMITANTE: The attempts were

         18  made to place the programs in districts that had

         19  nothing, and had traditionally had nothing. That was

         20  our first initiative.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I agree with

         22  you a hundred percent. I agree a hundred percent. I

         23  agree a hundred percent. My colleague right here to

         24  the right of me, poor Staten Island. They don't have

         25  any. I feel bad for them.
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          2                 But anyway, I just want to bring up

          3  one thing, is that I do agree with you that I

          4  believe that we really need a mixture of programs

          5  and Citywide, schoolwide models.

          6                 I've got to tell you something, I

          7  agree with school-wide models. I think in instances

          8  they are good. Because I've seen them work in my

          9  area.

         10                 MS. COMMITANTE: They're all as good

         11  as the teacher standing in front of the room.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, you're

         13  a hundred percent right, and let's talk about that.

         14                 If a teacher has been teaching a

         15  gifted program, and that new State certification,

         16  would they be able -- do they have to still take

         17  those courses?

         18                 MS. COMMITANTE: The new Gifted

         19  Extension Certificate --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes.

         21                 MS. COMMITANTE: Will be in effect as

         22  of September of '05. For those teachers that have

         23  been Gifted and Talented teachers, three or more of

         24  the past five years, they will be grandfathered in.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: That's what I
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          2  wanted to know.

          3                 MS. COMMITANTE: Everyone else will

          4  have to take six credits of course work, and they

          5  will have to pass the content specialty tests.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: All right.

          7  Thank you very much. I'm glad to see the

          8  Administration is going to increase the programs.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: The other

         10  thing is that they also have to have applied for an

         11  extension. So, we made sure that our Human Resources

         12  Department actually called all the teachers who were

         13  presently teaching those classes to remind them of

         14  what it is they had to do. And the course work they

         15  need. And the Union, the UFT has been working with

         16  us also to give the certification courses to

         17  teachers who needed to do it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. That's

         19  good to know, to make sure our schools have that.

         20                 Thank you very much. No further

         21  questions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We have three

         23  other colleagues who want to --

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I just want

         25  to say that the list I gave you is not complete, so
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          2  if you would just hold off on it, we will send you

          3  the complete. Because we've added more

          4  self-contained since the last time we put this out,

          5  okay?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We have three

          7  other Council members who I know have questions, and

          8  then we have parents and advocates who are also

          9  here. So, Council Member Jackson, then DeBlasio,

         10  then Lanza.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I was going

         12  to say good afternoon, but it's still morning.

         13                 Good morning.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Good

         15  morning.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And as

         17  someone that's been involved in education, not

         18  necessarily in Gifted and Talented, I sit here and

         19  I'm listening to the questions and answers, and let

         20  me tell you, it doesn't look good at all. It really

         21  doesn't.

         22                 But I have a couple of questions, and

         23  they're not going to be as long, I hope, because

         24  it's obvious to me and the questions and responses

         25  that, you know, that this is a work in progress that
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          2  needs a lot of work.

          3                 But I was looking at the statistics,

          4  and I see, and my district is Councilmatic District

          5  7, my Community School Districts are 6 and 5, and I

          6  looked at the sheets, and correct me if I'm wrong,

          7  there are no Gifted and Talented programs in

          8  District 5, which is basically Harlem.

          9                 Can anyone, and you have -- Carmen,

         10  you're the Deputy Chancellor --

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: You will be

         12  getting two more, three more self-contained in

         13  District 5 as of September.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes. But I'm

         15  just curious, you know, a community school district,

         16  can you or somebody explain why don't we have any

         17  whatsoever?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I can't

         19  tell you what happened in the past. I can only tell

         20  you what's happening in the future.

         21                 As a result, you're absolutely right,

         22  that was one of the priorities that we put in place

         23  for September and there will be three -- those were

         24  run by district superintendents. They were not run

         25  by us up until now.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, Deputy

          3  Chancellor, I must say that Mayor Bloomberg has said

          4  that he's an Education Mayor, and he's already been

          5  in office three years, I believe, and he's running

          6  for re-election, and, so, in the past, I can only go

          7  the past three years prior to him coming into

          8  office, but it's been three years and there's no

          9  Gifted and Talented Program. And I think I heard in

         10  comments in response to one of my colleagues that

         11  some of the tests or some of the programs have been

         12  not favorable to people of color; is that correct?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: That is

         14  correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, in some

         16  respects not favorable. Other people may say that

         17  people of color have been discriminated against?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: You could

         19  say that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         21                 That's what came to my mind when I

         22  heard that, and I think that we're on the same

         23  wavelength.

         24                 But also, in District 6, and I was

         25  looking at some of the stats here, I heard you say,
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          2  Deputy Superintendent, that some of the Talented and

          3  Gifted programs you would not consider talented and

          4  gifted; is that correct?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I would say

          6  that we need to look at the performance of students

          7  in those programs to ensure that they're being held

          8  to the same high standards as everywhere else, and

          9  that's what we're going to do now.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I understand.

         11                 I heard you respond that the 7.5

         12  percent of self-contained talented and gifted

         13  programs in the City, in your opinion, that some of

         14  them would not really be classified as gifted and

         15  talented?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I think by

         17  the standards that we hold them to, probably not.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right. Okay.

         19                 Now, I'm looking at in Region 10

         20  District 6, on page five of the letter --

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It says PS 152

         23  and 178 has dual language programs. Are those Gifted

         24  and Talented, or they're just dual language?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: They're on
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          2  the list because you need to also have gifted and

          3  talented.

          4                 I mean, I actually went to visit one

          5  of those programs and those students are actually

          6  doing all their academic subjects in two languages,

          7  including literacy.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: And that is

         10  their level of gifted and talented. So, I would say

         11  yes, by that definition.

         12                 Now, if we go to the next level of

         13  how they're performing on standardized scores,

         14  that's what we're going to be looking at now.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I see. And

         16  what is the, maybe just briefly, if you can, if you

         17  can't I can understand it, because I know that you

         18  don't necessarily know about every program, what is

         19  the ALFA (phonetic) program at IS 52? Is that a

         20  requirement, or how are children assessed on that?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I believe

         22  that's one where the standardized scores give

         23  admittance into those programs, so that would

         24  probably qualify for Gifted and Talented under the

         25  present definition.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, I believe

          3  the ALFA program has been in existence for a little

          4  while; is that correct?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Has an

          7  assessment been done as to whether the kids, after

          8  they leave that program, where they go to school and

          9  whether or not they're accepted into other programs?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I mean, not

         13  by us but we'll certainly, you know, be asking

         14  people to be much more on top of that from now on.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, as the

         16  Council member of Council District 7, I would say

         17  that overall the programs need a lot to be desired.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We would

         19  agree with you. And that's where the emphasis on

         20  professional development is crucial, and I think

         21  also having teacher certification as part of the new

         22  State mandate will actually help us get this done in

         23  a much better way.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And Deputy

         25  Chancellor, I hear you when you're saying that we're
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          2  working on it, but, quite frankly, we hear that from

          3  the Department representatives all the time, and in

          4  our opinion, you know, we don't want to constantly

          5  hear we're going to work on it from now on,

          6  especially when you've been in office three years.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I've been

          8  in office less than a year.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm not

         10  saying you. I'm talking about the Administration of

         11  Michael Bloomberg.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No, I

         13  understand.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm referring

         15  to the Administration of Michael Bloomberg and

         16  Chancellor Joel Klein. And as far as I'm concerned,

         17  all of you are one, meaning that you are the

         18  Department of Education, and if a Director should

         19  change, or a Deputy Chancellor should change, to me

         20  it doesn't matter because you may have only been in

         21  for a certain period of time. You know, you are

         22  responding on behalf of the Department.

         23                 And as far as we're concerned, we

         24  expect whether or not you're there or you're not

         25  there, we expect the programs to go forward. Because
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          2  you've heard the saying, no one person stops the

          3  show from going forward.

          4                 Is there any reason, and I'm going to

          5  switch to your task force, do you have any educators

          6  from the union, UFT or CSA, on your Think Tank?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We have

          8  members, but not any official representation.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm sorry,

         10  you have members --

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We have

         12  members of the UFT and the CSA, but not sitting as

         13  UFT or CSA.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Is there any

         15  reason why you would not ask your partners, and

         16  these are partners in education --

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Absolutely.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Any reason

         19  why on a Think Tank you would not have professionals

         20  from the unions, the UFT that represents 80,000

         21  teachers and from CSA, the Council of Supervisors

         22  and Teachers that represent all of the principals

         23  and assistant principals, to have a representative

         24  on the Think Tank?

         25                 I don't understand the logic in
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          2  reasoning not to have them.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I would say

          4  that right now our major thrust in the Think Tank

          5  was to get the information from the field of what

          6  existed out there, and the divergent -- we needed

          7  the regional representation because we had no way of

          8  getting that information.

          9                 As we go forward, it makes a lot of

         10  sense to have them. In most of our advisory councils

         11  we do have a UFT and CSA representative.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, but I'm

         13  saying there's one thing, as you know, Deputy

         14  Chancellor, to have a principal or what have you,

         15  that are members of CSA on the Think Tank and

         16  getting their input from their perspective, and it's

         17  another thing in getting the union who represents

         18  those individuals their perspective on the matter.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We have

         20  been keeping in touch with both CSA and the Union on

         21  all issues that come up. But the most important

         22  thing, I have to keep going back, we did not have

         23  all the information, what was going on in the

         24  region, so it was an information tank for us to get

         25  that information.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, what I'm

          3  hearing from you is that --

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: As we move

          5  forward we will be doing that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Doing what,

          7  may I ask?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Asking for

          9  representation. This was not a policy-making board,

         10  it was an information gathering group.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I would

         12  recommend that you reach out to them immediately and

         13  invite them in for a Think Tank point of view. And I

         14  agree with my colleague, I don't see why you don't

         15  have parents in your Think Tank.

         16                 Superintendents -- let me just

         17  finish, please.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:

         20  Superintendents and other professionals on this

         21  Think Tank, they're not the only thinkers on this

         22  subject area.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Right. The

         24  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I think
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          2  -- I'm sorry, I just have to finish. I think by not

          3  having that, you're selling the system short,

          4  because you're not getting input in order to really

          5  make the program what it needs to be.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay. Well,

          7  I will invite you to our next CEC meeting. I have

          8  been meeting with the parent representatives from

          9  the entire City of New York on a monthly basis. And

         10  as part of those agendas, I bring what we call the

         11  pressing issues, and we invite them to go back to

         12  their communities to discuss the issues that we're

         13  doing.

         14                 On this agenda, I believe it's March

         15  7th, what's on the agenda is everything that the

         16  Think Tank has come up with and where we plan on

         17  moving forward.

         18                 So, I expect to have 32 CEC

         19  presidents, and plus 1, because we always invite

         20  them to bring someone, to actually share this with.

         21  They are elected by the members of their community,

         22  and that's going to be where we move forward.

         23                 As we move to the second phase of the

         24  Think Tank, we certainly take your suggestion, and

         25  we have worked with them in many of our other
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          2  committees, that there will be UFT and CSA

          3  representation.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well,

          5  finally, Madam Chair, Deputy Chancellor, I would

          6  highly recommend that you not only just communicate

          7  with these various groups, and especially the

          8  Citywide CEC, what's going on, but you invite them

          9  in now to be part of the Think Tank, and not in the

         10  second round. People want to be in from the

         11  beginning in order to shape something, not after

         12  it's done. I strongly recommend that. Not unless the

         13  Department of Education is afraid, afraid of honest

         14  input, honest input. And I don't think that you're

         15  afraid of that. And if you want to be inclusive, if

         16  we want to talk about parents as full partners,

         17  there's no reason why you can't invite them in,

         18  invite the unions in now, in order to lay down the

         19  foundation, not after the foundation has already

         20  settled and you say let's build this building, they

         21  say, well, excuse me, we didn't build the

         22  foundation, now you want us to build the building.

         23                 That's my recommendation to you, and

         24  I'm finished. You don't have to respond.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We are short
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          2  on time but I want to make sure we get Council

          3  Member DeBlasio and Council Member Lanza.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          5  Madam Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm sorry,

          7  we've been joined by Council Member Comrie.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          9  Madam Chair. I want to thank you and I want to thank

         10  Council Member Fidler. I think this is very

         11  important legislation. Not in and of itself alone. I

         12  think it's important in its practical impact, but I

         13  also think it's important because it has spurred a

         14  debate that we really need to have in this City. And

         15  I especially thank Council Member Fidler for that.

         16                 Deputy Chancellor, you and I have

         17  talked about this over time. I think the simple

         18  point here is that people in this City look at

         19  Gifted and Talented programs, believe fundamentally

         20  they work, believe that they're very important in

         21  keeping people in our public schools who bluntly

         22  might not stay in otherwise, and it's important to

         23  the strength of our public school system overall,

         24  and want reassurances that what's good in this model

         25  will be continued and expanded upon.
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          2                 I have to say I was happy during the

          3  State of the City Address by the Mayor. I heard from

          4  very good signs there. But this legislation, I

          5  believe, helps to clarify where we need to go going

          6  forward.

          7                 Now, having said that, I also want to

          8  defend you and your record. And I just spoke to my

          9  colleague, Council Member Recchia, and he

         10  understands why I feel this strongly, because he,

         11  too, was a community school board member. And for

         12  those of us who were community school board members,

         13  we do not quickly forget the work we did with the

         14  community. And, so, when you are Superintendent in

         15  District 15, and even before that in District 15, we

         16  worked very hard to expand Gifted and Talented

         17  education, I think very successfully. And if

         18  anything, I think you are not only being

         19  misunderstood, but you are being a little too humble

         20  yourself, because just the example of having created

         21  the Sunset Park -- the Sunset Prep Program in Sunset

         22  Park, a stand-alone, self-contained gifted middle

         23  school in a neighborhood that had not had that

         24  before, in fact, ironically, that's what I think

         25  this legislation is trying to say, that what you've
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          2  already done should be something we're doing

          3  everywhere.

          4                 It doesn't mean that an effort to do

          5  school-wide enrichment isn't complimentary of that.

          6                 Again, I know how deeply you believe

          7  in that model, too. But I want to just say from the

          8  jump, I think a lot of us up here could say that's a

          9  good thing, that's a positive thing, and we do

         10  support it, but we very much want to make sure that

         11  there are pure Gifted and Talented programs and that

         12  they are equitably distributed.

         13                 So, I guess the question I'm leaning

         14  to is, is the model that you and people before you

         15  developed in District 15 to ensure that Gifted and

         16  Talented programs were expanded to all demographic

         17  areas; is that what you're saying when you said

         18  earlier, you know, you have plans to double and

         19  triple, is that what you're saying, that you intend

         20  to systematically make sure that there are gifted

         21  and talented programs where they historically

         22  haven't been?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Absolutely.

         24  And, again, you know, thank you for feeding me the

         25  information, but the reality here is, and, again,
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          2  and I don't want to belied on this, it doesn't

          3  matter how many programs you have, it matters how

          4  many quality programs you have, and it also goes to

          5  the issue that in many places the parents chose, we

          6  actually had empty seats in one of the programs,

          7  because parents wanted to stay within their own

          8  neighborhoods or whatever.

          9                 So, there's a lot of other ways to

         10  look at this. But, yes, the answer is I expect to

         11  keep moving to more self-contained, to more AP

         12  classes, more honors classes in middle schools and

         13  high schools, and also in schools where the

         14  school-wide enrichment model is part of what the

         15  professional staff wants, moving in that direction

         16  as well.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Very

         18  quickly, I think this will be a different debate

         19  over time, as we see continued greater equity in the

         20  placement of the self-contained programs. And as we

         21  see the results from the school-wide enrichment

         22  model, again, I see school-wide enrichment as a

         23  compliment to self contained programs, but over time

         24  you might be able to show us how the two work

         25  together in a way we can't see visibly now.
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          2                 What I would urge you to do, and I

          3  think this is very consistent with the intent of

          4  Council Member Fidler's legislation, is come to us

          5  next time, or as soon as possible with a specific

          6  model of how you intend to expand both types to show

          7  the equity dynamic.

          8                 I think in addition to the

          9  legislation saying keep what is good now, I think

         10  the core message of legislation is equity. If you're

         11  moving in that direction, fill in those blanks for

         12  us, and show us those details so we have something

         13  we can then critique that is specific. I mean,

         14  bluntly and respectfully, the generalities, even

         15  though I'm sure they're not disingenuous, don't give

         16  people confidence that we don't need a legislative

         17  solution. We're often listening here for whether we

         18  need legislative solutions.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I think

         20  what we could give you, Bill, that makes a lot of

         21  sense, in addition to the other things we've

         22  promised, we could give you a three-year plan, and

         23  where do we see a three-year plan going based on the

         24  issues that you brought up.

         25                 And one thing I need to say also,
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          2  because it's something we should have stated, that

          3  we do not see these two programs not coexisting in

          4  the same school. You could have self-contained in

          5  the same building, if that's one of the things you

          6  do. But we will definitely come up with a three-year

          7  plan, because I think that makes a lot of sense. And

          8  it holds our feet to the fire in terms of what we

          9  want to do over a period of time.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Last very

         11  quick point, a universal testing point. Again,

         12  Council Member Recchia and I would be the first to

         13  say, having been school board members, how much we

         14  believe in local self-determination. We wish we had

         15  more right now. We missed some of the elements of

         16  the old system.

         17                 But I want to agree with you on the

         18  point about universality. Since we're making the

         19  argument for equity, I understand how important it

         20  is to you to have a single standard, and I would

         21  argue bluntly, if you believe in a single standard,

         22  show us a plan we can believe in. Because if that's

         23  what helps us get to equity, people might embrace

         24  it.

         25                 But for now, you're going to hear
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          2  resistance because in the absence of a clear plan,

          3  people rightfully cling to self-determination, to

          4  know that they at least have something for that

          5  community.

          6                 Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: That's

          8  fair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

         10  Lanza, then Comrie, and then Koppell. We're adding

         11  members and we're getting shorter on time.

         12                 Council Member Lanza.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you,

         14  Chairwoman. Good morning -- good afternoon. I could

         15  say that, Councilman Jackson.

         16                 I sat with admiration as I watched my

         17  colleagues, Chairwoman Moskowitz and Councilman

         18  Fidler attempt to elicit from you your opinion as to

         19  the extent of the need that exists, whether it's ten

         20  percent, whether it's 15 percent or some other

         21  number. And I think it's important that we have the

         22  answer.

         23                 I'm not going to try to do what they

         24  could not achieve here in the interest of time, but

         25  I think it is important that first we acknowledge
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          2  that these programs have benefits and that they work

          3  and that we need them, and then I think it's

          4  important if we're going to be able to implement any

          5  program, that someone somewhere makes an assessment

          6  as to the extent of the need.

          7                 So, it's important that we have that

          8  from you, Councilman Fidler said 24 hours, we need

          9  that number so that we can understand truly the

         10  Department acknowledges that these programs work,

         11  and we'll do something about it.

         12                 So, let me attack it from the other

         13  direction. Other than talk about how many students,

         14  children, would benefit from these programs, let me

         15  at least see whether or not you agree that some

         16  would.

         17                 Would you agree that in each school

         18  there is at least one student that would benefit

         19  from these programs?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I would

         21  assume that there would be more than one student in

         22  every single school --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: But at least

         24  one, you would agree with that?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Yes.

                                                            127

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Would you

          3  assume that in each borough there would be at least

          4  one student that would benefit from these programs?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Okay. We talked

          7  about, I think you've acknowledged that there's been

          8  at least de facto discrimination, in that children

          9  of color seem to have been left out in the past.

         10                 I'd ask that you add to that list

         11  every single student in the entire Borough of Staten

         12  Island, irrespective of race, creed, or ethnic

         13  background, every single student has been left out

         14  of these programs.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Which is

         16  one of the reasons why the biggest growth in this

         17  program is going to be on Staten Island.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: It's also the

         19  reason why I believe that Councilman Fidler's bill

         20  is so important, because where we were is an

         21  indication of where we might end up, I believe.

         22                 And, so, I'll ask you, you talked

         23  about growth on Staten Island, how did you determine

         24  where to place these programs?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We've done
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          2  in consultation with the regional superintendent.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: With the

          4  exception of one school that exists that's on the

          5  border of my district, there is not one school in my

          6  entire district, the largest geographic district in

          7  the City of New York, that is fully within the

          8  district that is proposed to have a self-contained

          9  program.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I would

         11  certainly be willing to discuss it with Regional

         12  Superintendent Friday and have a discussion on that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: How is it that

         14  we come to a place where an entire borough is left

         15  out?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: This is

         17  historical. This has, in all the years of

         18  decentralization, there was never a program there,

         19  so I'm assuming that there wasn't a push in the

         20  district, because that could have happened under the

         21  old decentralization. So, we didn't do this. We sort

         22  of inherited this, and we are trying to undo it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Now we have a

         24  new day has dawned --

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Right.

                                                            129

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: And yet

          3  virtually all of my district is still being left

          4  out; how does that occur?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: We're now

          6  trying to bring Staten Island up to more

          7  representation, including a specialized high school,

          8  which will be, you know, Staten Island Tech. So, I

          9  can't tell you what the history was there. You know,

         10  you probably know that better than I. But from my

         11  coming on board to moving forward, you will have

         12  what you absolutely deserve there.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Forgive me for

         14  being parochial about it, but I think it has

         15  relevance to each and every single member on this

         16  panel, and in the City Council. I'll ask the

         17  question, why is it that still in my district, you

         18  have not selected a single school for a program?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It was done

         20  by borough, and we see Staten Island as a borough,

         21  and we did not do the selection here we've done in

         22  consultation here with the Regional Superintendent.

         23  And I know that she had many discussions with the

         24  CECs of Staten Island.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: So the Regional
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          2  Superintendent, that's the person who made this

          3  decision?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I don't

          5  think her decisions are totally finished. I know

          6  that there was more consultation going on in Staten

          7  Island about where there might be some other

          8  placements.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Who will make

         10  the decision as to where these programs will be

         11  placed?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It will be

         13  the Regional Superintendent in consultation with

         14  members of her community.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: So, one

         16  Regional Superintendent may have a different opinion

         17  from another Regional Superintendent throughout the

         18  system, and therefore we may end up with what we've

         19  had in the past, which are areas which are left out,

         20  areas included, we'll have complete disparity

         21  throughout the system potentially?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I don't

         23  think they were moving in a direction of disparity.

         24  If anything, we're looking more for equalization.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: But we're held
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          2  hostage to the opinions of the Superintendent --

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Of the

          4  educators in the system.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Well, the point

          6  remains that once --

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: And the

          8  CECs. Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Yes, if the

         10  Superintendent is making this decision, my district

         11  may be left out because my Superintendent may not

         12  believe these programs work. That's possible.

         13  Because right now my district is left out. So, it's

         14  not only possible, it's --

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I would say

         16  that, here again, I would go, the list is not

         17  complete, I would discuss it with a CEC. I would say

         18  that the discussion needs to go back at the region

         19  level with the CEC president from your district.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Well, there has

         21  been some discussion because you've selected some

         22  schools in the Borough of Staten Island. I have not

         23  been part of that discussion. I don't know who has

         24  been part of the discussion.

         25                 So, my problem is, is that we still,
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          2  it seems to me, if you're going to leave these

          3  decisions to the Regional Superintendents, that we

          4  still may end up with a system that has disparity

          5  built into it, and I would ask if that is the case.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Our

          7  guidelines to the Regional Superintendents is to

          8  look at the geography within their districts and to

          9  make sure that all districts had representation.

         10                 We are not looking at Councilmatic

         11  districts, we're looking at districts as they exist

         12  within the DOE definition of a district. We did not

         13  look at Councilmanic districts, because those don't

         14  exist for this kind of decision-making.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Well, I think

         16  that's a flawed way to look at things.

         17                 But now that you bring it up, if you

         18  look at Staten Island, I see that you have not

         19  proposed a single self-contained program for the

         20  entire Borough of Staten Island.

         21                 So, if that is your criterion that we

         22  looked at the Borough, then somehow once again

         23  you've missed the entire borough.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: This list

         25  is not complete, and from what I understand from the

                                                            133

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  last few days, there will be some -- we are

          3  anticipating four more self-contained that are not

          4  on the list with specific schools. So, I think that

          5  is going to be there. I can't say exactly where they

          6  are, but that probably will be there.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Therein lies

          8  the problem is that you think they may be there, you

          9  can't tell us if they're going to be there. Right

         10  now they're not. They never have. And what that

         11  tells me is when you leave this room today there are

         12  going to be more conversations, this City Council is

         13  going to be left out of that discussion as it has

         14  been in the past. That is wrong, and the net result,

         15  I can tell you, while Councilman Fidler is trying to

         16  find out from you what your assessment is with

         17  respect to the high end of the need, you're telling

         18  me that we don't need any of these programs on

         19  Staten Island. You're not telling me for sure that

         20  we're going to get them.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I didn't

         22  say that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Are we getting

         24  self-contained programs for sure on Staten Island?

         25                 I'm not talking about a Councilmatic
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          2  district, I'm not talking about --

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: The answer

          4  is yes. I just can't tell you --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: I'm talking

          6  about the entire Borough of Staten Island.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: The answer

          8  is yes, but I can't tell which school.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: And who is

         10  going to decide where that happens?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: That will

         12  be done at the regional level.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: By whom?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: The

         15  Regional Superintendent in consultation with most

         16  likely the CEC.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: So, again, that

         18  just I think underscores the need for this City

         19  Council to pass this bill. Because without passing

         20  this bill, based on your response, I have absolutely

         21  no assurance that the children in Staten Island,

         22  irrespective of color, creed or ethnic background,

         23  are going to be served by these programs, not a

         24  single assurance. What you have said is that will be

         25  decided by some person who is not sitting here, who
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          2  has not talked to me or any of my colleagues on

          3  Staten Island, to my knowledge with respect to these

          4  programs.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

          7  Comrie and then Koppell.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

          9  Madam Chair.

         10                 Hearing what my colleagues say,

         11  Councilman DeBlasio and Councilman Lanza, since I

         12  was not here for your entire hearing, I think I want

         13  to urge you, Deputy Chancellor, that part of the

         14  reason why Councilman Fidler wanted to introduce

         15  this bill was to give every parent some assurance

         16  that in every district there would be an opportunity

         17  for a gifted and talented program and regimen, and

         18  also that there would be academic enrichment imposed

         19  in each school, in a clear and identifiable way, so

         20  that even if they're not aware of it themselves

         21  because they're a new parent, if the child scores

         22  highly or scores an aptitude, that child could be

         23  tracked to those areas.

         24                 So, in light of what Councilman Lanza

         25  has said, I would hope that you move more towards
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          2  his model than to, you know, what people may or may

          3  not want for their own workload.

          4                 You know, clearly, with all due

          5  respect to people that are at different locations

          6  around the City, their desire for advanced education

          7  is not necessarily parental desire for what an

          8  advanced education or for Gifted and Talented. I

          9  would beg of you to think of it in that mode, that,

         10  you know, we have to be more parent-orientated to

         11  keep those parents in the schools, to keep parents

         12  in all the schools, as opposed to try to have what

         13  we have now where parents are vying to go to

         14  specialized schools and keeping information from

         15  other parents so that they can create Gifted and

         16  Talented schools.

         17                 In that vain, I just really wanted to

         18  ask you, these Gifted and Talented programs, how

         19  will children be eligible for them? I know that's a

         20  totally different question.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: It's

         22  various different methods on different grade levels.

         23  But let me answer your first question.

         24                 We have every intention of putting

         25  programs in every district. The difference between
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          2  districts is whether we mean the old community

          3  districts, which is what I mean when I call

          4  districts, or Councilmanic districts. So that's the

          5  distinction.

          6                 And as far as the other piece is that

          7  depending on the entry level, the admissions

          8  procedures change. Whether it's kindergarten or

          9  middle school or high school, those are the

         10  differences.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Under your

         12  scenario they'll have to test for it, or have

         13  certain academic skills?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And based on

         16  academics, not art aptitude or music aptitude?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: No, some of

         18  the middle schools, and some of the high schools

         19  have arts as one of their audition strands, but it

         20  depends on the schools.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, are these

         22  art programs part of, art and music programs part of

         23  what you handed over to us?

         24                 MS. COMMITANTE: If you look the

         25  program list that you have in front of you, these
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          2  were all the programs K to 8 that were reported to

          3  us for the '04/'05 school year. Few of them are

          4  audition and arts based, performance based.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          6                 MS. COMMITANTE: But I think, again,

          7  this is an incomplete list. There might be others

          8  out there that have not been reported to us.

          9                 But to answer your question about the

         10  criteria that's being used, various instruments are

         11  being used in all of those schools that list

         12  programs, ranging from traditional,

         13  intelligence-type tests, to alternate assessments,

         14  teacher recommendations, standardized tests. Some

         15  use only one, some use a combination of two, some

         16  use more than three. It's a very, very mixed bag out

         17  there.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Are you going

         19  to standardize that so that there's a standard for

         20  how a child could get in, or is it going to be up to

         21  those individual schools?

         22                 MS. COMMITANTE: We discussed looking

         23  for an instrument at the kindergarten grade one

         24  level that would be fair and that would seek to try

         25  to get some kind of figure, number, if you will,
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          2  that will identify students, but not just based on

          3  their intellectual aptitude, but looking at other

          4  factors.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So that's

          6  being worked on also, as far as a standard to make

          7  sure that regions are not favoring certain people.

          8  That's another reality that goes on as well, where a

          9  child is tracked depending on how the school feels

         10  about the child, as opposed to the child's aptitude.

         11  So, I would also ask you to please take a hard look

         12  at that as well. You know, I feel that you want to

         13  do these programs, and I think you understand the

         14  need for the programs.

         15                 Again, Councilman Fidler's focus and

         16  my focus, frankly, was to try to make sure we have

         17  every school with an enriched curriculum with a, you

         18  know, old EGC-type program for each grade, because

         19  we want to keep parents in public schools, as

         20  opposed to parents leaving public schools in my

         21  district, you know, which is Region 3, Districts 29

         22  and 28. Most of my parents that can afford it wind

         23  up sending their kids to other private schools, and

         24  they really can't afford it, but they're doing it

         25  because -- you know, I'm not even going to go over
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          2  the list of programs, because there's only one

          3  kindergarten and three middle schools with programs

          4  in 29, you know, which really is terrible for the

          5  quality of income and the quality of parents that

          6  could stay in that region if we had additional

          7  programs in each school.

          8                 So, I know you've been here long, and

          9  I see that the Deputy Chancellor is a little

         10  distracted. She wants to go.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: I don't

         12  want to go.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: It's been a

         14  long morning. I'm being understanding. I'm not going

         15  to jump up and down on the table. But what I want

         16  you to really understand is that the purpose of what

         17  we're trying to do here is to try to keep quality

         18  parents in schools, and by making sure that we have

         19  an enriched curriculum in every school to do that,

         20  and a Gifted and Talented or an exceptional

         21  component that's clearly understandable and is fair,

         22  you know, I haven't seen that. You know, even in

         23  Region 3, I'll expand to the whole region, and I'm

         24  hearing in other parts of the City it's the same

         25  problem. And I think that's what the overall goal of
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          2  this legislation is, to keep parents, and to try and

          3  make sure that these school-wide enrichment programs

          4  are rolled out sooner rather than later, and that

          5  clearly we get more information on where these

          6  programs are going to be located, and not be

          7  constrained by the whims of individuals who may not

          8  want to take on this additional burden.

          9                 And I know it's an additional burden

         10  for regions and administrators, but I think it's a

         11  necessary burden in order to keep quality parents in

         12  the system.

         13                 Because I'm also afraid if we don't

         14  do this we'll lose more parents than we have ever

         15  before.

         16                 So, I'm done, Madam Chair. I'm not

         17  looking for a response. But I just hope that you

         18  really take that as your main focus and not a

         19  preliminary focus. Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

         21  Koppell. Our last question for this panel.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I think it

         23  would be interesting, Deputy Chancellor, to look

         24  with me at the list of schools that have gifted and

         25  talented programs, just because it is interesting to
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          2  me.

          3                 If you look at the list and you start

          4  with Region 1, which happens to be the Northwest

          5  Bronx, and District 10, which I was the President,

          6  when I was President of School District 10, we

          7  mandated with our Superintendent, who I must say was

          8  not necessarily all that enthusiastic, she is now

          9  the head of Region 1 and she is a good friend of

         10  mine, but we had to sort of push her into doing

         11  Gifted, a Gifted and Talented program in every

         12  school.

         13                 We didn't achieve that, but if you

         14  look at your list here, you'll see that District 10,

         15  the Bronx is 1 and 2, and you'll see that District

         16  10 has overwhelmingly the largest number of programs

         17  in this list. And I think that's because of what we

         18  did, and I think it indicates the value, frankly, of

         19  the legislation that Councilman Fidler has

         20  introduced, because we mandated these programs and

         21  so they were created.

         22                 Now, I'm not saying that every one of

         23  these programs, and I don't know all of them, but I

         24  do know some of them, and I can tell you,

         25  incidentally, if you look at this list, and just of
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          2  the schools I know, if you look at MS 118, that is

          3  in a very poor neighborhood, with a deprived student

          4  body, if you want to call it that way, an

          5  overwhelmingly minority student body, and it is one

          6  of the most successful schools in the City, and it

          7  has this PASE Academy and Gifted program and kids

          8  want to go there from all over the district.

          9                 And just to, you know, everybody

         10  says, oh, the schools in Riverdale, they're so good,

         11  and you want to look at the scores? 118 scores are

         12  better than 141 scores, which is our middle school

         13  in Riverdale.

         14                 So, it can be done in every

         15  neighborhood. It doesn't only have to be done in

         16  middle class neighborhoods. 118 is a proof of it.

         17                 And another example is 280. If you

         18  look at this, it has a large number of kids in their

         19  Gifted and Talented program, and 280 is not in the

         20  greatest of neighborhoods and doesn't serve affluent

         21  population either. And, yet, you have large number

         22  of kids in Gifted and Talented program, and 280, if

         23  you look at their scores, you'll see that the scores

         24  of the kids who go to 280 exceed the scores of

         25  almost every other school in the district, including
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          2  schools that are in more affluent areas of District

          3  10.

          4                 The thing is that I think that the

          5  aim should be, your aim should be that there should

          6  be a Gifted and Talented program in every school. It

          7  cannot necessarily be exactly the same program in

          8  each school, but not in every district, not ten

          9  percent. And every school should have a program that

         10  reaches out. Don't tell me that there are not gifted

         11  and talented kids in every school, because I believe

         12  that there are.

         13                 Not every one of these programs is

         14  exactly the same. The Bronx Dance Academy is aimed

         15  at kids who are talented in dance, that's why they

         16  say they have all these kids in the Gifted and

         17  Talented program, because all their kids are in the

         18  Gifted and Talented program. The Bronx Dance Academy

         19  is only there for gifted and talented kids, but

         20  their gifted and talented in a particular arena.

         21                 So, I say you should have Gifted and

         22  Talented programs in every school in the City.

         23  That's what we tried to do in District 10. That's

         24  why we have more District 10 programs than anywhere

         25  else, and the fact that we don't have every school
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          2  in District 10 listed here, indicates that we were

          3  not totally successful either. We made progress, and

          4  that's what I think we want to see on a Citywide

          5  basis.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR FARINA: Okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

          8  much, Council Member Koppell. Thank you, Deputy

          9  Chancellor Carmen Farina. We appreciate very much

         10  you and your colleagues' testimony.

         11                 Before you leave, I would just say

         12  that I think you have heard that our concerns are

         13  equity access and that demand is consistent --

         14  supply is consistent with demand.

         15                 We would be very interested in that

         16  three-year plan, because otherwise we get the sense

         17  that we're flying blind here. I would also just make

         18  one information request. We haven't been getting our

         19  follow-up questions answered to prior hearings, so

         20  we're still waiting, for example, for vocational

         21  education, and we've had that several months ago, or

         22  six weeks ago I guess we had. Because people

         23  couldn't answer what I thought were pretty basic

         24  questions at the hearing, we're not asking for

         25  things that should take a lot of research, it's sort
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          2  of basic stuff. If the Committee could get that,

          3  we'd be most appreciative.

          4                 Thank you, again, so so much for your

          5  time and interest. We appreciate it.

          6                 We're going to take a five-minute

          7  break, and then we're somehow going to manage to

          8  deal with our second and third panel. Thank you.

          9                 If I could ask that during the break

         10  if we could just have our panelists come up. Dona

         11  Matthews. Aminda Gentile. Shellman Johnson. Lisa

         12  Cohen. Sara-Ann Fearon. Lois Refkin, and Robin

         13  Burnette.

         14                 (Recess taken.)

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Let me thank

         16  our panelists in advance for their patience.

         17                 As I'm sure you can appreciate, as

         18  I'm sure you can understand, it's very, very

         19  important that we get the Department, it's very,

         20  very important that we get the Department of

         21  Education on the record.

         22                 All these hearings are transcribed,

         23  this creates a public record that parents and

         24  educators can go back to, as well as governmental

         25  agencies. And because there was a lot of difficulty
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          2  in getting straightforward answers to our questions,

          3  we had to kind of go back and forth. So, I apologize

          4  that we're rushed on this portion. Obviously there

          5  is a great interest in this topic, and we will

          6  undoubtedly have to come back to it again.

          7                 So, I will ask everyone to depart

          8  from your testimony and give us, you know, basically

          9  in a couple of minutes, and you come at this from

         10  very different, some of you are parents, some of you

         11  are teachers, advocates, what you heard that we, as

         12  a Committee, should be focused on.

         13                 What was the single most important

         14  thing you heard, or what's the most single most

         15  important thing, in your experience, of the Gifted

         16  and Talented program that we, as a Committee, should

         17  pay attention to.

         18                 And then what will happen is, we will

         19  come back to you. Often the Committee writes a

         20  report and we will undoubtedly need to contact you

         21  individually and collectively to follow-up on those

         22  points.

         23                 So, if we can begin in the order on

         24  which I called you, I think Dr. Dona Matthews was

         25  first.
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          2                 DR. MATTHEWS: Okay, well, thank you

          3  for doing this.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: The mic has to

          5  be off -- the light has to be off, for the

          6  microphone to be on. It's very counter-intuitive. It

          7  does not seem to be. That may be a problem with our

          8  mechanical.

          9                 DR. MATTHEWS: Okay, now it's on?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes.

         11                 DR. MATTHEWS: Great.

         12                 It was certainly a very interesting

         13  morning listening to the testimony, lots of

         14  interesting important points being raised. Obviously

         15  the definition is extremely important and one that's

         16  worth thinking a lot about.

         17                 It seems to me that across the panel

         18  and the Department of Education there is an

         19  understanding that giftedness is not categorical,

         20  that it's not wise to think of some children as

         21  gifted and other children as not gifted, that

         22  giftedness, like every other human quality, crosses

         23  a spectrum. So, some flexibility around thinking

         24  about who is gifted, how we define, how we program

         25  for giftedness is important, that flexibility of
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          2  identification and programming, including across

          3  grades, within grades, from one grade to the next.

          4                 So that the definition that I would

          5  suggest you moving to or at least contemplating

          6  thinking about is a special education definition,

          7  thinking about giftedness as a need for special

          8  education. So the gifted kids in the City of New

          9  York are those whose learning needs will not be well

         10  met, unless there is some kind of differentiated

         11  program before them. I think that simplifies an

         12  understanding of it.

         13                 Then obviously the next question

         14  concerns testing, and how do we know who is gifted,

         15  and I know that there was a lot of sort of mess in

         16  that discussion, and I certainly understood the

         17  point of view of the Deputy Chancellor and the

         18  panel. I could understand both sides, frustration on

         19  both sides, that it does make good sense to think

         20  about testing ability rather than aptitude. When we

         21  attempt to test potential, we will always have a

         22  problem. We will have false negatives, we will have

         23  false positives. We are always sure what we are

         24  talking about when we talk about ability. Does this

         25  child have advanced mathematical needs that aren't
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          2  likely to be well met unless there is some kind of

          3  differentiated programming provided.

          4                 So, those are --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you. If

          6  we have time, 30 seconds, we'll ask you some

          7  questions, because you've said a lot.

          8                 I think Aminda. I forget who is next.

          9  Aminda.

         10                 MS. GENTILE: Hi. I'll be equally as

         11  brief. I also enjoyed the dialogue this morning. And

         12  thanks to Councilman Jackson, as Carmen was leaving,

         13  UFT is now invited to be part of the task force, the

         14  Think Tank.

         15                 But the definition of giftedness has

         16  always been a concern for me. I know it was raised a

         17  number of times here.

         18                 An example: I taught for many, many

         19  years in District 12 in the Bronx, and our

         20  elementary school, 1,800 students had two classes of

         21  gifted students, IGC classes on every grade.

         22  Clearly, the school had its own definition of

         23  giftedness, and that definition basically was what

         24  students, which students did well on the academic

         25  achievement tests.
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          2                 However, while it wouldn't have been

          3  my choice, it worked well for those youngsters at

          4  that time. With the confidence and the difference of

          5  parents' involvement, it really, really worked well.

          6                 However, when the students left, very

          7  transient group of students, when they left, and

          8  they went to another district in another school,

          9  they weren't gifted anymore. And that's the problem

         10  with not having a consistent standard to look at

         11  what we call gifted. So that was one.

         12                 The Think Tank that we will be

         13  involved in, and the UFT is, we hear frequently from

         14  our teachers, the concern for the lack of gifted

         15  programs in the City.

         16                 They have raised numerous times the

         17  number of children who would lose out by a one-point

         18  score. And as you eloquently stated this morning,

         19  does that make that child less gifted? It doesn't.

         20  So, that really was my most important piece.

         21                 So, the questions that we came with

         22  were to ask the Department, and ask them all, how

         23  will the selection process for the kids define

         24  giftedness?

         25                 What will the curricula and resources

                                                            152

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  be for these programs? And we really have to address

          3  the quality of the programs as well. And now with

          4  the new regulation about the credentialing of

          5  teachers, taking -- and I am a teacher, taking a

          6  course or six credits in gifted education, without

          7  the opportunity to practice and to apply, does not

          8  make you a master at that. So, how are we going to

          9  make sure that our teachers have the proper

         10  professional development, that they provide the

         11  gifted education that we're hoping to see.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         13                 Mr. Shellman Johnson.

         14                 MR. JOHNSON: Good morning.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Good morning.

         16                 MR. JOHNSON: I want to thank you for

         17  the opportunity to present.

         18                 I'm concerned more about what wasn't

         19  said, and I'd like to go back and thank the Latino

         20  community, the Puerto Rican Legal and Education

         21  Fund, for their efforts to make this, bring this

         22  about. Because if it was not for the group that was

         23  left out, or their children left out, we wouldn't be

         24  sitting here today talking about anything.

         25                 Gifted education is a matter of
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          2  predictions. I am happy to say that I am a product

          3  of gifted education, not from New York City, all of

          4  my family, all part of gifted education, not because

          5  of testing, but because of teacher interest, parents

          6  being together, parents, community, being able to

          7  acknowledge and know who is gifted, not with a test

          8  but by their talents, by knowing the children.

          9                 So, what I'm saying here is that I

         10  see that we have unfinished business, the gentleman,

         11  the Congressman, Councilman who represent Harlem, Al

         12  Vann I saw sitting here, and the other gentleman who

         13  spoke about so many Gifted programs in his

         14  particular district, without the stringent testing

         15  criteria.

         16                 The black community is not

         17  represented here today. As I look at the audience

         18  here, there is no black interest, because we have

         19  not invited them to be a part of this.

         20                 We have so much business that has

         21  been left off because of the school excluding

         22  parents, excluding community resources to help us to

         23  shape Gifted education in our community.

         24                 I would like to say, Shellman

         25  Johnson, an associate for equal education, came out
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          2  of a classroom that was gifted, established by a

          3  teacher who funded it herself for four years in a

          4  district, 17, PS 221. This association came from

          5  there because it was the first involvement of

          6  parents right in the classroom, and I was very much

          7  a part of that, and I'm very happy to say that that

          8  was a very successful activity by the teacher who

          9  will follow me. And we're sorry that we don't have

         10  the time to go into all that we would like to. I

         11  would like to commend again the Puerto Rican

         12  Education Action -- or Puerto Rican Education Action

         13  Fund, for bringing this about, drawing up the shades

         14  so there will be some light shed in the darkness of

         15  the deception, what I heard today. We've got so much

         16  unfinished business. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         18                 Sara-Ann Fearon.

         19                 MS. FEARON: Yes, good morning.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Good morning.

         21                 MS. FEARON: Good morning.

         22                 I have served the Council members

         23  with copies of my prepared speech, however, what I

         24  did do was, for four years I funded a program where

         25  the children of my neighborhood, which is Crown
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          2  Heights, received differentiated instruction, and by

          3  doing so, I was able to raise the standard of

          4  education for these children who were normally, who

          5  were normally identified as under-achievers. And I

          6  have to reiterate Councilman Jackson's concerns

          7  about minority children being completely omitted

          8  from the Gifted and Talented programs throughout the

          9  City. The Javits program and the National Research

         10  Center for Gifted and Talented Education in

         11  Connecticut is where I have liaised with for the

         12  past seven years, and it is through their

         13  involvement that I was able to do so.

         14                 I really would rather that my record

         15  would speak for itself, and you have that, those

         16  copies.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you. We

         18  will read them, and be in contact with you.

         19                 Lisa Cohen, and then Robin Burnette.

         20                 MS. COHEN: Hi. Thank you for having

         21  me.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Hi.

         23                 MS. COHEN: I am the mother of a four

         24  year old. I live in District 3. Region 10. We are

         25  lucky enough to be zoned for PS 166. And I'm here to
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          2  speak specifically about the application process

          3  which we just nearly completed. We're still waiting

          4  to hear exactly that everything went okay. But I

          5  just wanted to discuss the sort of lack of outreach,

          6  and bisontine process that made it very difficult to

          7  navigate, and made it just a source of anxiety and

          8  confusion for a lot of people, and I wanted to speak

          9  about the dearth of information and clear answers,

         10  and even a dearth of names and contacts and ways to

         11  get those answers.

         12                 Basically my daughter is now in her

         13  second year of private pre-school, and it's really

         14  only through that involvement and through things

         15  like the Internet and websites that have been set up

         16  apart from the City that allow parents to find out

         17  anything about how to apply to their gifted and

         18  talented.

         19                 My feeling is that the City has no

         20  problem finding me when it's time to vote, or when

         21  it's time to pay my taxes, and, yet, I did not

         22  receive a single piece of paper that said we

         23  understand that you have a four year old, this is

         24  the school that you're zoned for, she has a spot in

         25  kindergarten, the school has a dual language, this
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          2  school has a Gifted and Talented, here is your

          3  application. Here is the test that she needs to

          4  have. The application is due on X date. If you

          5  cannot afford a private test, then this is where you

          6  go for -- I mean, I didn't get anything that said

          7  where she is to go for kindergarten and if I would

          8  like to apply to a special program, how that can be

          9  done.

         10                 Every piece of information that I got

         11  was through things that I had, you know, being lucky

         12  enough to be an upper middle class member of my

         13  community, and, so, it was things like the Internet,

         14  things like a private pre-school, that clearly

         15  nobody in the community has. I don't even know how

         16  they would know where their school is situated, if

         17  they didn't have access to some of these things.

         18                 When I went on the tour, there was

         19  nobody of color on the tour. The tours were only,

         20  you know, four Fridays for an hour. You know, if you

         21  didn't have your computer, you weren't going to get

         22  a tour. You couldn't contact them.

         23                 Things like the application. It was

         24  all rumor and e-mails going around, and there are

         25  people who are now consultants who are going to make
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          2  a profit off of the fact that nobody can get an

          3  answer from the City.

          4                 You know, they show up at some

          5  meetings and then they're able to corner the one

          6  person whose name they have and riddle them with

          7  questions for two hours, then they charge people to

          8  disseminate that information.

          9                 So, to me it seems like extremely

         10  unfair. And as I said, we've done everything that we

         11  believe we are to do, but we have yet to receive a

         12  piece of paper that says, yes, you've been accepted

         13  to Gifted and Talented. This is what you do to

         14  register.

         15                 From my understanding we've done

         16  everything right, but I believe we're not going to

         17  get any letter or anything that says this is a fact,

         18  some people are saying at the end of April, there is

         19  rumors that it's not happening til June, then it's

         20  all -- I have no idea whether my application was

         21  received by the right person, whether the scores

         22  were received, you know, if any of those things

         23  happen to go. I just handed my application to a

         24  person standing in an office. That was it. I have

         25  nothing that says your file is complete and we'll
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          2  let you know. I have nothing. You know, it's all

          3  very-- so, I'm sorry if I went over my time.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: No, no. Ie yi

          5  yi, yi yi, that's my response to that.

          6                 Robin Burnette, and then Lois Refkin,

          7  I think.

          8                 MS. BURNETTE: Okay. I cut out two of

          9  my --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Can I

         11  just ask you to speak into the microphone, because

         12  it's recorded and transcribed.

         13                 MS. BURNETTE: Okay. I cut out two of

         14  my four sections and I'll speak quickly.

         15                 Just one thing in response to the

         16  young woman who spoke at the end, I don't know if

         17  you're aware of the Schuyler School,

         18  S-c-h-u-y-l-e-r, in Bushwick, Brooklyn. It's one of

         19  the schools that I researched when my daughter was

         20  looking, when I was looking for a middle school for

         21  my daughter. It has a wonderful reputation. It is 98

         22  percent minority and has got an outstanding

         23  reputation, just to let you know.

         24                 Okay. My name is Robin Burnette. I am

         25  testifying under two hats --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I want to

          3  strongly recommend you not read your testimony. Give

          4  us your sort of two-minute version of the most

          5  important thing that the Committee should take away

          6  from.

          7                 MS. BURNETTE: Okay. I have two

          8  children that have experienced the Gifted programs

          9  in the public school system of the City, and I am

         10  also the co-founder and acting president of the

         11  Beacon Parents Forum, which is a 200-member

         12  association of gifted children in Queens. And I'll

         13  say the main reasons for coming here today is to

         14  support a law mandating Gifted and Talented

         15  education in the public schools, and to ask that it

         16  be included in the law that parent participation be

         17  required in the formulation and execution of these

         18  gifted programs.

         19                 By the way the CEC representatives

         20  are elected. A lot of it is politics, a lot of it is

         21  popularity. I don't think that that covers parent

         22  participation.

         23                 Also, to ask that it be specified in

         24  the law that the standards for achievement and

         25  curriculum for the gifted children exceed
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          2  requirements that those for the general student

          3  population. Because right now many of these gifted

          4  programs, gifted kids are grouped together, but as

          5  in my program that I go to, they are subject to the

          6  exact same curriculum that all of the New York City

          7  students are undergoing, and this is not

          8  appropriate.

          9                 And also to express my strong belief

         10  that Queens, unlike Brooklyn and areas of Manhattan,

         11  need middle schools that are dedicated to providing

         12  Gifted and Talented education.

         13                 I will skip basically my entire

         14  thing. But if I could just read my last piece, I

         15  would really appreciate it.

         16                 This is a personal statement. And I

         17  live in Ridgewood, Queens. I have two girls, nine

         18  and eleven, educated in the Beacon Program at PS 153

         19  in Maspeth, and now my 11 year old attends

         20  intermediate school at the Mark Twain School for

         21  Gifted and Talented in Coney Island, Brooklyn. We

         22  all live in the same house in Ridgewood, Queens,

         23  okay?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I'm the

         25  Councilman for that.
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          2                 MR. BURNETTE: Yes.

          3                 What I'm talking about here, though,

          4  is the fact that there is a dearth of middle

          5  schools, again, in Queens. All of my friends when my

          6  kids were born moved to the suburbs. The only thing,

          7  single only thing that kept us in Ridgewood, Queens,

          8  was when our children were accepted into the Beacon

          9  Program in District 24. The only thing. Otherwise we

         10  would have been able to go to the suburbs. We could

         11  have afforded the suburbs. We're professional

         12  people. No doubt.

         13                 My older, my 11-year-old daughter,

         14  gets up at 5:30 in the morning to make a 6:15 bus

         15  and gets home at 4:15 in the afternoon. She's only

         16  11. She has time to do her homework, eat dinner, and

         17  go to bed. That's not much of a life.

         18                 And, so, I want to stress that though

         19  there are SP classes, which I'm sure will be brought

         20  up to you, in Queens, which are special placement

         21  classes for honor students, they vary greatly in

         22  quality from school to school, depending on which

         23  school you are zoned for. Some are pretty good, and

         24  some are horrible. Some have a fairly large

         25  percentage, maybe even ten percent of the student
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          2  body represented in these SP programs. The ones in

          3  my neighborhood have like maybe one to two percent

          4  of the student body in these SP programs.

          5                 The problem with the tiny percentage

          6  of the student body in the SP program is they are

          7  not the school's priority. They are far from being

          8  the schools priority. They don't have the

          9  appropriate resources, and socially these smart

         10  kids, these nerdy kids, are being ostracized and

         11  bullies in schools where it is uncool to be smart.

         12  And the City looks at other groups very carefully

         13  who are ostracized but not these.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: There is

         15  another hearing in here and we have to be out of

         16  here by 1:00, which means we have one minute. So,

         17  I'm going to hear from our last parent and then two

         18  of my colleagues have extremely brief questions.

         19  Very brief. You've never asked such questions of

         20  this brevity.

         21                 Yes, please go ahead. Lois Refkin.

         22                 MS. REFKIN: I'm Lois Refkin. I'm a

         23  teacher of Gifted Education at Hunter College High

         24  School. I'm also a District 3 parent, and Gale

         25  Brewer has been a great supporter of Gifted programs
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          2  in our district.

          3                 I am also a former member of the

          4  school board of District 3, where we worked a lot on

          5  Gifted and Talented programs. I think you guys are

          6  asking a lot of the right questions today, and I

          7  really applaud you for that. I feel really

          8  encouraged as a parent.

          9                 In particular, when Council Member

         10  Fidler was asking about, or saying that one hour of

         11  a pull-out math class is not Gifted education, it's

         12  true. My concern as a parent is that, that one hour

         13  is going to be lost all the time for test prep and

         14  other things, and it's just not enough to sustain a

         15  Gifted student through his math class, you know, for

         16  the rest of the time.

         17                 I've heard Carmen Farina say Monday

         18  night that one of the considerations was to have

         19  these enrichment models during lunch period. And

         20  also as a parent, I say if the DOE is really

         21  committed to nurturing gifts and showing students

         22  that they appreciate their gifts, you don't save it

         23  for lunch period, when the kids need to socialize,

         24  stretch their legs, run off some of that energy that

         25  my two boys have.
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          2                 One other thing that I've heard the

          3  DOE mention is the use of experts to encourage

          4  gifted kids. It's a great idea in and of itself. But

          5  my concern is that the experts who will speak with

          6  children are well meaning but untrained volunteers,

          7  and while they can be helpful in certain ways, they

          8  are not certified teachers with knowledge of gifted

          9  education in a broad range of areas.

         10                 So, I think it's a good idea, but I

         11  am a little concerned that to save money that might

         12  be something that would be depended on and which

         13  would not be as useful as we would, educationally

         14  useful as we would hope for.

         15                 In terms of questions, as I said I

         16  think you're asking the right questions. I would

         17  also encourage you to ask, is differentiation really

         18  possible? I mean, as a teacher, with extraordinarily

         19  gifted students, even within that group it is so

         20  hard to differentiate.

         21                 So, although we are told that it is

         22  possible, when you have classes of 30, 32, 35, it

         23  just, it really is not easy.

         24                 I want to commend also Council Member

         25  Jackson for his metaphor of the foundation and the
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          2  building. As an English teacher, I'm going to use

          3  that one - a lot.

          4                 And although I am a member of the

          5  Region 10 Think Tank now, and I understand it will

          6  be our job to decide how it's implemented, I'm

          7  really stunned that there was no parent on the

          8  Central Think Tank. It is asking us to now implement

          9  their vision without being part of the vision. And I

         10  mean, there are educated parents. I know gifted

         11  parents sometimes get a bad wrap. But there are

         12  educated professionals, parents, who could have

         13  helped with this process, and have saved the DOE a

         14  lot of the consternation that they are now facing by

         15  not including parents from the beginning.

         16                 So, thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We couldn't

         18  agree with you more on that point.

         19                 MS. REFKIN: There's a copy of my

         20  testimony that I passed around.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes. We will

         22  read all of your testimony, and we very much

         23  appreciate it.

         24                 I am going to refrain from asking

         25  questions so that my colleagues can.
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          2                 Council Member Fidler.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay, I'll try

          4  to be really fast.

          5                 Dr. Matthews, your definition of

          6  giftedness was terrific, and there will be an A

          7  version of this bill at some point and I think we'll

          8  probably have to incorporate it. If not in your

          9  printed testimony, I'd love to have it again.

         10                 You used three words, "ability,"

         11  "aptitude," and "potential." I think those were

         12  words that bounced around a lot while Deputy

         13  Chancellor was up here. And I think it's important

         14  that we understand what we should be measuring at

         15  which stage.

         16                 I mean, you can't possibly, you know,

         17  test knowledge for someone entering into

         18  kindergarten, and you said it's impossible to test

         19  potential.

         20                 Now, that, to me that's unfortunate,

         21  because I think testing potential ability and

         22  potential aptitudes is what I would love to do

         23  entering elementary school. Why is it impossible to

         24  test potential?

         25                 MS. MATTHEWS: Okay. It's not
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          2  measurable. It's not quantifiable. Once we get into

          3  the business of different shading across children,

          4  saying this one is capable of doing this level of

          5  work, this one is capable of only doing that level

          6  of work, and we project a differential, we are

          7  automatically underestimating that lower kid. Or by

          8  providing a low estimate, I think we're providing a

          9  quite troubling ceiling that certainly the research

         10  brain development would not support.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: What should we

         12  be testing at that level?

         13                 MS. MATTHEWS: I think the only thing

         14  that is defensible to test is ability, at this time.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And you can't

         16  test potential and then adjust a year or two as we

         17  move forward, say, well, this child is now showing

         18  more potential, we can put them in a gifted program?

         19                 MS. MATTHEWS: Of course.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Or this child

         21  is not showing as much potential as we thought?

         22                 MS. MATTHEWS: Well, this is where I

         23  would stay away from the word, the use of the word

         24  "potential." I do in my work stay away from that

         25  word because I think it's dangerous. And I think it
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          2  leads to the kind of racism that gifted education is

          3  too well known for. And other kinds of segregation

          4  or discrimination. So, it's a problem.

          5                 But, yes, the question that you

          6  raised is a very important one, and that leads to

          7  the second point that I made a couple of minutes

          8  ago, is that I think it's essential that we have

          9  some flexibility of entry and exit in our programs,

         10  if we look at them just as we look at our learning

         11  disability programs, as only as needed. Gifted

         12  education, as special education, when needed. And in

         13  the domains needed.

         14                 I mean, one of the points that Carmen

         15  Farina made, and very accurately, in my opinion, is

         16  the domain specificity of giftedness. People

         17  typically are not gifted across all domains. They're

         18  mathematically gifted, scientifically, et cetera.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         20                 I really thank you, our witnesses and

         21  panelists, very, very much for taking time out of

         22  your busy day to be here. It is enormously

         23  instructive and I wish we had more time. But we will

         24  consult you individually and collectively as the

         25  Committee generates its report. Thank you so very,
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          2  very much.

          3                 And I want to apologize to the Chair

          4  who succeeds, we went a little over.

          5                 I'm calling this meeting to a

          6  conclusion.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 1:09 p.m.)
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